UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2021
OR
[0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 001-12111

Mednax, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Florida

(State or other jurisdiction of
Incorporation or organization)

26-3667538

(LR.S. Employer
Identification No.)

1301 Concord Terrace
Sunrise, Florida

(Address of principal executive offices)

33323
(Zip Code)
(954) 384-0175
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Not Applicable
(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol

Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value $.01 per share MD

New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the

preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes [4 No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation
S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes &1 No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging
growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the

Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O

Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
Emerging growth company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes 1 No [
On July 30, 2021, the registrant had outstanding 86,306,731 shares of Common Stock, par value $.01 per share.




Mednax, Inc.

INDEX

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 (Unaudited)

Consolidated Statements of Income for the Three and Six Months Ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020 (Unaudited)

Consolidated Statements of Equity for the Three and Six Months Ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020 (Unaudited)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020 (Unaudited)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited),

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Item 4. Controls and Procedures

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Item 6. Exhibits

SIGNATURES

Page

13

22

22

23

23

23

24

25



Mednax, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands)

(Unaudited)
June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 338,157 $ 1,123,843
Short-term investments 100,763 104,870
Accounts receivable, net 248,055 241,931
Prepaid expenses 18,896 16,898
Income taxes receivable 29,055 —
Other current assets 17,387 61,806
Total current assets 752,313 1,549,348
Property and equipment, net 68,481 76,191
Goodwill 1,487,105 1,477,968
Intangible assets, net 19,989 26,642
Operating and finance lease right-of-use assets 56,508 55,972
Deferred income tax assets 56,329 54,472
Other assets 114,405 107,355
Total assets $ 2,555,130 $ 3,347,948
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 329,918 $ 423,183
Current portion of finance lease liabilities 2,339 2,219
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 18,848 18,933
Total current liabilities 351,105 444,335
Long-term debt and finance lease liabilities, net 996,643 1,742,586
Long-term operating lease liabilities 39,977 40,970
Long-term professional liabilities 267,319 265,274
Deferred income tax liabilities 48,428 61,746
Other liabilities 42,534 45,320
Total liabilities 1,746,006 2,600,231
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock; $.01 par value; 1,000 shares authorized; none issued — —
Common stock; $.01 par value; 200,000 shares authorized; 86,337 and 85,593 shares 863 856
issued and outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital 1,039,231 1,029,453
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,513 3,530
Retained deficit (233,701) (286,354)
Total Mednax, Inc. shareholders’ equity 808,906 747,485
Noncontrolling interest 218 232
Total equity 809,124 747,717
Total liabilities and equity $ 2,555,130  $ 3,347,948

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Net revenue
Operating expenses:
Practice salaries and benefits
Practice supplies and other operating expenses
General and administrative expenses
Gain on sale of building
Depreciation and amortization
Transformational and restructuring related expenses
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Investment and other income
Interest expense
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate
Total non-operating expenses
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax provision
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net income (loss) attributable to Mednax, Inc.
Per common and common equivalent share data:
Income (loss) from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted
Income (loss) from discontinued operations:
Basic
Diluted
Net income (loss) attributable to Mednax, Inc.:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average common shares:
Basic
Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Mednax, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per share data)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020
$ 472959  $ 415441 % 919,712  $ 856,686
317,035 282,985 636,047 599,264
24,182 20,173 46,394 44,015
70,968 60,488 137,484 127,930
(7,280) — (7,280) —
8,106 6,751 16,137 13,554
9,932 10,479 14,810 26,555
422,943 380,876 843,592 811,318
50,016 34,565 76,120 45,368
4,176 3,576 10,143 2,530
(16,879) (28,265) (34,524) (55,930)
— — (14,532) —
577 305 1,072 799
(12,126) (24,384) (37,841) (52,601)
37,890 10,181 38,279 (7,233)
(7,363) (3,097) (2,408) (4,182)
30,527 7,084 35,871 (11,415)
4,478 (679,520) 16,768 (679,733)
35,005 (672,436) 52,639 (691,148)
6 — 14 —
$ 35011 % (672,436) $ 52,653 $ (691,148)
036 $ 0.08 042 $ (0.14)
036 $ 0.08 042 % (0.14)
005 $ (8.14) 020 $ (8.18)
005 §$ (8.11) 019 $ (8.18)
$ 041  $ (8.06) $ 062 $ (8.32)
$ 041 $ (8.03) $ 061 $ (8.32)
84,912 83,490 84,660 83,061
85,933 83,744 85,653 83,061
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2021

Balance at January 1, 2021

Net income

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Unrealized holding loss on investments, net of tax

Common stock issued under employee stock option,
employee stock purchase plan and stock purchase plan

Issuance of restricted stock

Forfeitures of restricted stock

Stock-based compensation expense

Repurchased common stock

Balance at March 31, 2021

Net income

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest @
Unrealized holding gain on investments, net of tax

Common stock issued under employee stock option,
employee stock purchase plan and stock purchase plan

Issuance of restricted stock
Forfeitures of restricted stock
Stock-based compensation expense
Repurchased common stock
Balance at June 30, 2021

2020

Balance at January 1, 2020

Net loss

Unrealized holding loss on investments, net of tax

Common stock issued under employee stock option,
employee stock purchase plan and stock purchase plan

Issuance of restricted stock

Forfeitures of restricted stock

Stock-based compensation expense

Repurchased common stock

Balance at March 31, 2020

Net loss

Unrealized holding gain on investments, net of tax

Common stock issued under employee stock option,
employee stock purchase plan and stock purchase plan

Issuance of restricted stock

Forfeitures of restricted stock

Stock-based compensation expense

Repurchased common stock

Balance at June 30, 2020

Mednax, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Equity
(in thousands)

Common Stock

Accumulated
Additional Other
Number of Paid-in Comprehensive Retained Total
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit" Equity
85593 $ 856 $ 1,029,453 $ 3530 $  (286,122) $ 747,717
— — — — 17,642 17,642
— — — — ®) ®)
— — — (1,133) — (1,133)
52 — 1,042 — — 1,042
660 7 @) — — —
(13) — — — — —
— — 3,717 — — 3,717
(82) 1) (1,993) — — (1,994)
86,210 $ 862 $ 1,032,212 $ 2,397 $ (268,488) $ 766,983
— — — — 35,011 35,011
— — — — ®6) 6)
— — — 116 — 116
71 1 1,535 — — 1,536
69 1 @) — — —
G) ) 1 — — —
— — 5,735 — — 5,735
®) — (251) — — (251)
86,337 § 863 $ 1,039,231 $ 2513  $  (233483) $ 809,124
84,248 $ 842  $ 987,942  $ 78 8 510,134 $ 1,498,996
— — — — (18,712) (18,712)
— — — (213) — (213)
78 1 1,831 — — 1,832
968 10 (10) — — —
(19) — — — — —
— — 8,035 — — 8,035
(125) ) (2,541) = = (2,542)
85,150 $ 852 $ 995,257  $ (135) $ 491,422 $ 1,487,396
— — — — (672,436) (672,436)
— — — 2,078 — 2,078
277 3 2,541 — — 2,544
200 2 2) — — —
(57) 1) 1 — — —
— — 7,489 — — 7,489
34) 1) (500) — — (501)
85,536 $ 855 $ 1,004,786 $ 1,943 $ (181,014) $ 826,570

(1)Presented within retained earnings on the consolidated balance sheet as the balance is immaterial.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.



Mednax, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

Six Months Ended June 30,

2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 52,653 $ (691,148)
(Income) loss from discontinued operations (16,768) 679,733
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 16,137 13,554
Amortization of premiums, discounts and issuance costs 1,838 2,785
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 14,532 —
Stock-based compensation expense 9,452 13,174
Deferred income taxes (17,033) 37,896
Other (1,205) (855)
Gain on sale of building (7,280) —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (26,005) 29,735
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 40,800 (1,913)
Other long-term assets (1,859) 1,186
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (54,453) (114,543)
Income taxes receivable (28,165) (70,487)
Long-term professional liabilities (715) 17,797
Other liabilities (10,413) 27,585
Net cash used in operating activities — continuing operations (28,484) (55,501)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities - discontinued operations (117) 102,052
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (28,601) 46,551
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition payments, net of cash acquired (7,207) (75)
Purchases of investments (8,355) (32,335)
Proceeds from maturities or sales of investments 10,745 18,135
Purchases of property and equipment (18,536) (16,891)
Proceeds from sale of building 24,728 —
Other — 476
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities — continuing operations 1,375 (30,690)
Net cash provided by investing activities - discontinued operations 2,350 9,031
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 3,725 (21,659)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings on credit agreement — 527,500
Payments on credit agreement — (527,500)
Redemption of senior notes, including call premium (759,848) —
Payments for credit facility amendment — (510)
Payments of contingent consideration liabilities (189) —
Payments on finance lease obligations (1,106) (186)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 2,578 4,376
Repurchases of common stock (2,245) (3,043)
Net cash (used in) provided from financing activities — continuing operations (760,810) 637
Net cash used in financing activities - discontinued operations — (1,248)
Net cash used in financing activities (760,810) (611)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (785,686) 24,281
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,123,843 107,870
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 338,157 $ 132,151

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Mednax, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2021
(Unaudited)

Basis of Presentation and New Accounting Pronouncements:

The accompanying unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and the notes thereto presented in this Form 10-Q have been prepared
in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") applicable to interim financial statements, and do not include all
disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for complete financial statements. In the opinion of
management, these financial statements include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of the results of
interim periods. The financial statements include all the accounts of Mednax, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, “MDX”) together with the
accounts of MDX’s affiliated business corporations or professional associations, professional corporations, limited liability companies and partnerships (the
“affiliated professional contractors”). Certain subsidiaries of MDX have contractual management arrangements with its affiliated professional contractors, which
are separate legal entities that provide physician services in certain states and Puerto Rico. The terms “Mednax” and the “Company” refer collectively to Mednax
Inc., its subsidiaries and the affiliated professional contractors.

The Company is a party to a joint venture in which it owns a 37.5% economic interest. The Company accounts for this joint venture under the equity
method of accounting because the Company exercises significant influence over, but does not control, this entity. The Company is also a party to a joint venture in
which it owns a 51% economic interest and for which it is deemed the primary beneficiary. The equity interest of the outside investor in the equity of this
consolidated entity is accounted for and presented as noncontrolling interest on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The results from operations
attributable to the noncontrolling interest are presented separately on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income.

The Company divested its anesthesiology services and radiology services medical groups in May 2020 and December 2020, respectively. The operating
results of these medical groups are reported as discontinued operations in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income for the three months and six months
ended June 30, 2020.

The consolidated results of operations for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results to be experienced for the entire fiscal
year. In addition, the accompanying unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the notes thereto included in the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Form 10-K”).

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, accounting guidance related to income taxes was issued with the goal of enhancing and simplifying various aspects of the income tax
accounting guidance, including requirements related to hybrid tax regimes, deferred taxes on step-up in tax basis of goodwill obtained in a transaction that is not a
business combination, separate financial statements of entities not subject to tax, the intraperiod tax allocation exception to the incremental approach, deferred tax
liabilities on outside basis differences, and interim-period accounting for enacted changes in tax law and certain year-to-date loss limitations. The guidance became
effective for us on January 1, 2021. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Coronavirus Pandemic (“COVID-19”):

COVID-19 has had an impact on the demand for medical services provided by the Company’s affiliated clinicians. Beginning in mid-March 2020, the
Company’s affiliated office-based practices, which specialize in maternal-fetal medicine, pediatric cardiology, and numerous pediatric subspecialties, experienced
a significant elevation of appointment cancellations compared to historical normal levels. The Company believes COVID-19, either directly or indirectly, also had
an impact on its neonatology intensive care unit (“NICU”) patient volumes, and there is no assurance that impacts from COVID-19 will not further adversely
affect its NICU patient volumes or otherwise adversely affect its NICU and related neonatology business. Further, in late 2020, the Company saw a shift in the mix
of patients reimbursed under government-sponsored healthcare programs, but that shift materially reversed during the six months ended June 30, 2021. Overall,
the Company’s operating results were significantly impacted by COVID-19 beginning in mid-March 2020, but volumes began to normalize in mid-2020 and
substantially recovered throughout 2020 and through June 30, 2021.

During 2020, the Company implemented a number of actions to preserve financial flexibility and partially mitigate the significant anticipated impact of
COVID-19. These steps included a suspension of most activities related to the Company’s transformational and restructuring programs, limiting these
expenditures to those that provide essential support for the Company’s response to COVID-19. In addition, (i) the Company temporarily reduced executive and
key management base salaries, including 50% reductions in salaries for its named executive officers during the second quarter of 2020; (ii) the Board of Directors
agreed to forego their annual cash retainer and cash meeting payments, also during the second quarter of 2020; (iii) the Company enacted a combination of salary
reductions and furloughs for non-clinical employees; (iv) the Company enacted significant operational and practice-specific expense reduction plans across its
clinical operations; and (v) amended and restated its Credit Agreement.



Due to the continued uncertainties surrounding the timeline of and impacts from COVID-19, the Company is unable to predict the ultimate impact on its
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The Company, however, believes it will be able to generate sufficient liquidity to satisfy its
obligations for the next twelve months.

CARES Act

In March 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act") was signed into law. The CARES Act is a relief package
intended to assist many aspects of the American economy, including providing up to $100 billion in aid to the healthcare industry to reimburse healthcare
providers for lost revenue and expenses attributable to COVID-19. The remaining $70 billion in aid is intended to focus on providers in areas particularly
impacted by COVID-19, rural providers, providers of services with lower shares of Medicare reimbursement or who predominantly serve the Medicaid
population, and providers requesting reimbursement for the treatment of uninsured Americans. It is unknown what, if any, portion of the remaining healthcare
industry funding of the CARES Act the Company and its affiliated physician practices will qualify for and receive. The Department of Health and Human Services
(“HHS”) is administering this program and began disbursing funds in April 2020, of which the Company’s affiliated physician practices within continuing
operations received an aggregate of $22.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 and $7.7 million during the six months ended June 30, 2021. The
Company has applications pending for certain affiliated physician practices for incremental relief beyond what has been received.

In addition, the CARES Act also provided for deferred payment of the employer portion of social security taxes through the end of 2020, and while the
Company utilized this deferral option throughout 2020, it repaid the deferred amounts during the second quarter of 2021.

Under current tax law, net operating losses can be carried forward indefinitely. The CARES Act enacted rules allowing net operating losses arising in
2020 to be carried back five taxable years. The Company currently expects to generate a net operating loss for the 2020 tax year which it intends to carry back to
the 2015 tax year under these provisions to obtain a refund of income tax at the prior 35% corporate tax rate.

Cash Equivalents and Investments:

As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company's cash equivalents consisted entirely of money market funds totaling $2.1 million and $1.0
million, respectively. Investments consisted of corporate securities, municipal debt securities, federal home loan securities and certificates of deposit. All
investments are classified as current.

Investments held at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Corporate securities $ 69,897 $ 71,095
Municipal debt securities 15,897 18,707
Federal home loan securities 4,967 8,017
Certificates of deposit 4,717 5,991
U.S. Treasury securities 5,285 1,060
$ 100,763  $ 104,870

Fair Value Measurements:

The accounting guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes valuation inputs into three levels based on the extent to which inputs used in measuring

fair value are observable in the market. Each fair value measurement is reported in one of three levels:

Level 1 — inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.

Level 2 — inputs are based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not
active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data
for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 — inputs are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability. The fair values are therefore determined using model-based techniques that include option pricing models, discounted cash flow models, and similar
techniques.

The following table presents information about the Company’s financial instruments that are accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis at June 30, 2021 and

December 31, 2020 (in thousands):



Fair Value

Fair Value
Category June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Assets:
Money market funds Levell $ 2,064 $ 1,010
Short-term investments Level 2 100,763 104,870
Mutual Funds Level 1 17,403 15,841

The following table presents information about the Company’s financial instruments that are not carried at fair value at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 (in
thousands):

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Liabilities:
2023 Notes — — 750,000 756,225
2027 Notes 1,000,000 1,057,500 1,000,000 1,070,000

The Company redeemed the full principal balance of its 5.25% senior unsecured notes due 2023 (the “2023 Notes”) in January 2021.

The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturities of the
respective instruments.

5. Accounts Receivable and Net Revenue:

Accounts receivable, net consists of the following (in thousands):

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Gross accounts receivable $ 1,152,440 $ 1,106,394
Allowance for contractual adjustments and uncollectibles (904,385) (864,463)
$ 248,055 $ 241,931

Patient service revenue is recognized at the time services are provided by the Company’s affiliated physicians. The Company’s performance obligations
related to the delivery of services to patients are satisfied at the time of service. Accordingly, there are no performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period with respect to patient service revenue. Almost all of the Company’s patient service revenue is reimbursed by
government-sponsored healthcare programs (“GHC Programs”) and third-party insurance payors. Payments for services rendered to the Company’s patients are
generally less than billed charges. The Company monitors its revenue and receivables from these sources and records an estimated contractual allowance to
properly account for the anticipated differences between billed and reimbursed amounts.

Accordingly, patient service revenue is presented net of an estimated provision for contractual adjustments and uncollectibles. The Company estimates
allowances for contractual adjustments and uncollectibles on accounts receivable based upon historical experience and other factors, including days sales
outstanding (“DSO”) for accounts receivable, evaluation of expected adjustments and delinquency rates, past adjustments and collection experience in relation to
amounts billed, an aging of accounts receivable, current contract and reimbursement terms, changes in payor mix and other relevant information. Contractual
adjustments result from the difference between the physician rates for services performed and the reimbursements by GHC Programs and third-party insurance
payors for such services.

Collection of patient service revenue the Company expects to receive is normally a function of providing complete and correct billing information to the
GHC Programs and third-party insurance payors within the various filing deadlines and typically occurs within 30 to 60 days of billing.

Some of the Company’s hospital agreements require hospitals to pay the Company administrative fees. Some agreements provide for fees if the hospital
does not generate sufficient patient volume in order to guarantee that the Company receives a specified minimum revenue level. The Company also receives fees
from hospitals for administrative services performed by its affiliated physicians providing medical director or other services at the hospital.



The following table summarizes the Company’s net revenue by category (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020
Net patient service revenue $ 412,950 $ 354,763 $ 794,012 $ 739,199
Hospital contract administrative fees 58,904 52,989 115,970 104,832
Other revenue 1,105 7,689 9,730 12,655

$ 472,959 § 415441  $ 919,712  $ 856,686

The approximate percentage of net patient service revenue by type of payor was as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Contracted managed care 69 % 69 % 69 % 69 %
Government 24 26 25 26
Other third-parties 5 4 5 4
Private-pay patients 2 1 1 1

100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %

Business Combinations and Discontinued Operations:

Business Combinations

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of one pediatric orthopedic practice, one multi-location pediatric
urgent care practice and one pediatric cardiology practice for total consideration of $12.2 million, of which $7.2 million was paid in cash at closing and $5.0
million is recorded as current and long-term liabilities. These acquisitions expanded the Company’s national network of physician practices across women’s and
children’s services. In connection with these acquisitions, the Company recorded tax deductible goodwill of $9.6 million, fixed assets of $1.6 million and other
intangible assets consisting primarily of physician and hospital agreements of $1.0 million.

Discontinued Operations — Anesthesiology Services Medical Group

The Company divested its anesthesiology services medical group in May 2020. During the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded a net
decrease to the loss on sale of $19.1 million, primarily related to an adjustment to the sales proceeds and book values of net assets sold resulting from a mutual
agreement between the buyer and seller reached during the three months ended March 31, 2021 to treat a portion of the divestiture as an asset sale for tax
purposes, the disposal of the single anesthesia practice that remained after the divestiture of the anesthesiology medical group in May 2020 and the completion of
the valuation for the contingent economic consideration component of the transaction. The net decrease to the loss on sale is reflected as a component of
discontinued operations, net of income taxes, in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021. The
operating results of the anesthesiology services medical group were reported as a component of discontinued operations, net of income taxes, in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 as relevant.

The Company’s continuing operations financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2021 reflect the Company’s best estimate of the income tax
effects associated with the asset sale change. These estimates include an increase in income tax receivable of $24 million, of which $9 million is related to loss
carryback provisions enacted under the CARES Act, an increase in deferred tax assets of $17 million and a reduction to capital loss carryforwards and offsetting
valuation allowance of $37 million. The Company will adjust these income tax effects as necessary during subsequent periods in 2021 as additional information
becomes available.

Discontinued Operations — Radiology Services Medical Group
The Company divested its radiology services medical group in December 2020. During the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded a
net increase to the loss on sale of $2.3 million, primarily related to the adjustment of certain transaction related accounting. A final working capital true up is
pending and is expected to be completed during 2021 and may result in an incremental change to the loss on sale. The operating results of the radiology services
medical group were reported as a component of discontinued operations, net of income taxes, in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2020.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):
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June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Accounts payable $40,658 $59,771
Accrued salaries and incentive compensation 129,915 184,849
Accrued payroll taxes and benefits 35,669 43,945
Accrued professional liabilities 36,473 50,607
Accrued interest 29,280 32,721
Other accrued expenses 57,923 51,290

$329,918 $423,183

The net decrease in accrued salaries and incentive compensation of $19.1 million, from December 31, 2020 to June 30, 2021, is primarily due to the
payment of performance-based incentive compensation, principally to the Company’s affiliated physicians, partially offset by performance-based incentive
compensation accrued during the six months ended June 30, 2021. A majority of the Company’s payments for performance-based incentive compensation is paid
annually during the first quarter.

Common and Common Equivalent Shares:

Basic net income per common share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted net income per common share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common and potential common shares
outstanding during the period. Potential common shares consist of outstanding restricted stock and stock options and is calculated using the treasury stock method.

The calculation of shares used in the basic and diluted net income per common share calculation for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and
2020 is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 84,912 83,490 84,660 83,061
Weighted average number of dilutive common share

equivalents 1,021 254 993 —
Weighted average number of common and common

equivalent shares outstanding (a) 85,933 83,744 85,653 83,061
Antidilutive securities not included in the diluted

net income per common share calculation 13 1,335 15 1,092

Due to a loss from continuing operations for the six months ended June 30, 2020, no incremental shares are included because the effect would be antidilutive.

Stock Incentive Plans and Stock Purchase Plans:

On May 12, 2021, the Company’s shareholders approved the Company’s Amended and Restated 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Amended and
Restated 2008 Incentive Plan”). The amendments, among other things, increased the number of shares of common stock reserved for delivery under the Amended
and Restated 2008 Incentive Plan from 27,775,000 shares to 34,975,000 shares, as well as extended the expiration date to 10 years from the effective date of
approval. The Amended and Restated 2008 Incentive Plan provides for grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, deferred stock, and other
stock-related awards and performance awards that may be settled in cash, stock or other property.

Under the Amended and Restated 2008 Incentive Plan, options to purchase shares of common stock may be granted at a price not less than the fair
market value of the shares on the date of grant. The options must be exercised within 10 years from the date of grant and generally become exercisable on a pro
rata basis over a three-year period from the date of grant. The Company issues new shares of its common stock upon exercise of its stock options. Restricted stock
awards generally vest over periods of three years upon the fulfillment of specified service-based conditions and in certain instances performance-based conditions.
Deferred stock awards generally vest upon the satisfaction of specified performance-based conditions and service-based conditions. The Company recognizes
compensation expense related to its restricted stock and deferred stock awards ratably over the corresponding vesting periods. During the six months ended
June 30, 2021, the Company granted 728,290 shares of restricted stock to its employees and non-employee directors under the Amended and Restated 2008
Incentive Plan. At June 30, 2021, the Company had 3.6 million shares available for future grants and awards under the Amended and Restated 2008 Incentive
Plan.

On May 12, 2021, the Company’s shareholders approved the Company’s Amended and Restated 1996 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(the “ESPP”) to increase the number of shares issuable under the ESPP to 9.9 million shares. Under the ESPP, employees are permitted to purchase the Company's
common stock at 85% of market value on January 1st, April 1st, July 1st and October 1st of each year. Under the Company’s 2015 Non-Qualified Stock Purchase
Plan (the “SPP”), certain eligible non-employee service providers are permitted to purchase the Company’s common stock at 90% of market value on January 1st,
April 1st, July 1st and October 1st of each year.
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11.

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense for the discount received by participating employees and non-employee service providers.
During the six months ended June 30, 2021, approximately 0.1 million shares were issued under the ESPP. At June 30, 2021, the Company had approximately 0.4
million shares reserved for issuance under the ESPP. The SPP provides for the issuance of up to 100,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. At June 30,
2021, the Company had approximately 61,000 shares in the aggregate reserved for issuance under the SPP. No shares have been issued under the SPP in 2021.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $5.8 million and $6.4
million, and $9.5 million and $13.7 million, respectively.

Common Stock Repurchase Programs:

In July 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of shares of the Company’s common stock up to an amount sufficient to
offset the dilutive impact from the issuance of shares under the Company’s equity compensation programs. The share repurchase program allows the Company to
make open market purchases from time-to-time based on general economic and market conditions and trading restrictions. The repurchase program also allows for
the repurchase of shares of the Company’s common stock to offset the dilutive impact from the issuance of shares, if any, related to the Company’s acquisition
program. No shares were purchased under this program during the six months ended June 30, 2021.

In August 2018, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of up to $500.0 million of the Company’s common
stock in addition to its existing share repurchase program, of which $98.7 million remained available for repurchase as of December 31, 2020. Under this share
repurchase program, during the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company withheld approximately 0.1 million shares of its common stock to satisfy minimum
statutory withholding obligations of $2.2 million in connection with the vesting of restricted stock.

The Company intends to utilize various methods to effect any future share repurchases, including, among others, open market purchases and accelerated
share repurchase programs. The amount and timing of repurchases will depend upon several factors, including general economic and market conditions and
trading restrictions.

Commitments and Contingencies:

The Company expects that audits, inquiries and investigations from government authorities and agencies will occur in the ordinary course of business.
Such audits, inquiries and investigations and their ultimate resolutions, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on the Company's
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of its securities. The Company has not included an accrual for these matters as
of June 30, 2021 in its Consolidated Financial Statements, as the variables affecting any potential eventual liability depend on the currently unknown facts and
circumstances that arise out of, and are specific to, any particular future audit, inquiry and investigation and cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company becomes involved in pending and threatened legal actions and proceedings, most of which involve
claims of medical malpractice related to medical services provided by the Company's affiliated physicians. The Company's contracts with hospitals generally
require the Company to indemnify them and their affiliates for losses resulting from the negligence of the Company's affiliated physicians. The Company may also
become subject to other lawsuits which could involve large claims and significant costs. The Company believes, based upon a review of pending actions and
proceedings, that the outcome of such legal actions and proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and the trading price of its securities. The outcome of such actions and proceedings, however, cannot be predicted with certainty and an
unfavorable resolution of one or more of them could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows and the trading price of its securities.

Although the Company currently maintains liability insurance coverage intended to cover professional liability and certain other claims, the Company
cannot assure that its insurance coverage will be adequate to cover liabilities arising out of claims asserted against it in the future where the outcomes of such
claims are unfavorable. With respect to professional liability risk, the Company generally self-insures a portion of this risk through its wholly owned captive
insurance subsidiary. Liabilities in excess of the Company's insurance coverage, including coverage for professional liability and certain other claims, could have
a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of its securities.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion highlights the principal factors that have affected our financial condition and results of operations, as well as our liquidity and capital
resources, for the periods described. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto included in
this Quarterly Report. In addition, reference is made to our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and related Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 18, 2021 (the “2020 Form 10-K”). As used in this Quarterly Report, the terms “Mednax”, the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to
the parent company, Mednax, Inc., a Florida corporation, and the consolidated subsidiaries through which its businesses are actually conducted (collectively, “MDX”),
together with MDX’s affiliated business corporations or professional associations, professional corporations, limited liability companies and partnerships (“affiliated
professional contractors”). Certain subsidiaries of MDX have contracts with our affiliated professional contractors, which are separate legal entities that provide physician
services in certain states and Puerto Rico. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements. Please see the Company’s 2020 Form 10-K, including Item 1A,
Risk Factors, for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks and assumptions associated with these forward-looking statements. In addition, please see “Caution Concerning
Forward-Looking Statements” below.

Overview

Mednax is a leading provider of physician services including newborn, maternal-fetal, pediatric cardiology and other pediatric subspecialty care. Our national
network is comprised of affiliated physicians who provide clinical care in 39 states and Puerto Rico. Our affiliated physicians provide neonatal clinical care, primarily within
hospital-based neonatal intensive care units (“NICUs”), to babies born prematurely or with medical complications; and maternal-fetal and obstetrical medical care to
expectant mothers experiencing complicated pregnancies primarily in areas where our affiliated neonatal physicians practice. Our network also includes other pediatric
subspecialists, including those who provide pediatric intensive care, pediatric cardiology care, hospital-based pediatric care, pediatric surgical care, pediatric ear, nose and
throat, pediatric ophthalmology, pediatric urology services and pediatric urgent care.

Coronavirus Pandemic (COVID-19)

COVID-19 has had an impact on the demand for medical services provided by our affiliated clinicians. Beginning in mid-March 2020, our affiliated office-based
practices, which specialize in maternal-fetal medicine, pediatric cardiology, and numerous pediatric subspecialties, experienced a significant elevation of appointment
cancellations compared to historical normal levels. We believe COVID-19, either directly or indirectly, also had an impact on our NICU patient volumes, and there is no
assurance that impacts from COVID-19 will not further adversely affect our NICU patient volumes or otherwise adversely affect our NICU and related neonatology
business. Further, in late 2020, we saw a shift in the mix of patients reimbursed under government-sponsored healthcare programs, but that shift materially reversed during
the six months ended June 30, 2021. Overall, our operating results were significantly impacted by COVID-19 beginning in mid-March 2020, but volumes began to
normalize in mid-2020 and substantially recovered throughout 2020 and through June 30, 2021.

During 2020, we implemented a number of actions to preserve financial flexibility and partially mitigate the significant anticipated impact of COVID-19. These
steps included a suspension of most activities related to our transformational and restructuring programs, limiting these expenditures to those that provide essential support
for our response to COVID-19. In addition, (i) we temporarily reduced executive and key management base salaries, including 50% reductions in salaries for our named
executive officers during the second quarter of 2020; (ii) the board of directors agreed to forego their annual cash retainer and cash meeting payments, also during the
second quarter of 2020; (iii) we enacted a combination of salary reductions and furloughs for non-clinical employees; (iv) we enacted significant operational and practice-
specific expense reduction plans across its clinical operations; and (v) amended and restated our credit agreement.

Due to the continued uncertainties surrounding the timeline of and impacts from COVID-19, we are unable to predict the ultimate impact on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our securities at this time.

CARES Act

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act") was signed into law. The CARES Act is a relief package intended
to assist many aspects of the American economy, including providing up to $100 billion in aid to the healthcare industry to reimburse healthcare providers for lost revenue
and expenses attributable to COVID-19. The remaining $70 billion in aid is intended to focus on providers in areas particularly impacted by COVID-19, rural providers,
providers of services with lower shares of Medicare reimbursement or who predominantly serve the Medicaid population, and providers requesting reimbursement for the
treatment of uninsured Americans. It is unknown what, if any, portion of the remaining healthcare industry funding on the CARES Act our affiliated physician practices will
qualify for and receive. The Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) is administering this program, and our affiliated physician practices within continuing
operations received an aggregate of $22.0 million in relief payments during the year ended December 31, 2020 and $7.7 million during the six months ended June 30, 2021.
We have applications pending for certain affiliated physician practices for incremental relief beyond what has been received.

In addition, the CARES Act also provides for deferred payment of the employer portion of social security taxes through the end of 2020, and we utilized this
deferral option throughout 2020. We repaid these deferred social security taxes during the second quarter of 2021.

Under current tax law, net operating losses can be carried forward indefinitely. The CARES Act enacted rules allowing net operating losses arising in 2020 to be
carried back five taxable years. We currently expect to generate a net operating loss for the 2020 tax year which we intend to carry back to the 2015 tax year under these
provisions to obtain a refund of income tax at the prior 35% corporate tax rate.
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General Economic Conditions and Other Factors

Our operations and performance depend significantly on economic conditions. Economic conditions in the United States (“U.S.”) have deteriorated, primarily as
a result of COVID-19, and patient volumes have been impacted. During the three months ended June 30, 2021, the percentage of our patient service revenue being
reimbursed under government-sponsored healthcare programs (“GHC Programs”) remained relatively stable as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2020. We
could, however, experience shifts toward GHC Programs if changes occur in economic behaviors or population demographics within geographic locations in which we
provide services, including an increase in unemployment and underemployment as well as losses of commercial health insurance. For example, during the three months
ended December 31, 2020, we experienced significant shifts to GHC programs. Payments received from GHC Programs are substantially less for equivalent services than
payments received from commercial insurance payors. In addition, due to the rising costs of managed care premiums and patient responsibility amounts, we may experience
lower net revenue resulting from increased bad debt due to patients’ inability to pay for certain services.

Healthcare Reform

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the “ACA”) contains a number of provisions that have affected us and, absent amendment or repeal, may
continue to affect us over the next several years. These provisions include the establishment of health insurance exchanges to facilitate the purchase of qualified health plans,
expanded Medicaid eligibility, subsidized insurance premiums and additional requirements and incentives for businesses to provide healthcare benefits. Other provisions
have expanded the scope and reach of the Federal Civil False Claims Act and other healthcare fraud and abuse laws. Moreover, we could be affected by potential changes to
various aspects of the ACA, including changes to subsidies, healthcare insurance marketplaces and Medicaid expansion.

Despite the ACA going into effect over a decade ago, continuous legal and Congressional challenges to the law’s provisions and persisting uncertainty with
respect to the scope and effect of certain provisions have made compliance costly. In 2017, Congress unsuccessfully sought to replace substantial parts of the ACA with
different mechanisms for facilitating insurance coverage in the commercial and Medicaid markets. Congress may again attempt to enact substantial or target changes to the
ACA in the future. Additionally, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) has administratively revised a number of provisions and may seek to advance
additional significant changes through regulation, guidance and enforcement in the future.

At the end of 2017, Congress repealed the part of the ACA that required most individuals to purchase and maintain health insurance or face a tax penalty, known
as the individual mandate. In light of these changes, in December 2018, a federal district court in Texas declared that key portions of the ACA were inconsistent with the
U.S. Constitution and that the entire ACA is invalid as a result. Several states appealed this decision, and in December 2019, a federal court of appeals upheld the district
court’s conclusion that part of the ACA is unconstitutional but remanded for further evaluation whether in light of this defect the entire ACA must be invalidated.
Democratic attorneys general and the House appealed the Fifth Circuit’s decision to the Supreme Court. On March 2, 2020, the Supreme Court agreed to hear the case,
styled California v. Texas, during the 2020-21 term. Oral arguments took place on November 2, 2020 and on June 17, 2021 , the Court held that the plaintiffs lacked standing
to challenge the ACA. Notwithstanding the Supreme Court's ruling, we cannot say for certain whether there will be future challenges to the ACA or what impact, if any,
such challenges may have on our business. Changes resulting from these proceedings could have a material impact on our business.

In late 2020 and early 2021, the results of the federal and state elections changed which persons and parties occupy the Office of the President of the United States and the
U.S. Senate and many states’ governors and legislatures. The current Administration may propose sweeping changes to the U.S. healthcare system, including expanding
government-funded health insurance options and replacing current healthcare financing mechanisms with systems that would be entirely administered by the federal
government. Any legislative or administrative change to the current healthcare financing system could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and the trading price of our securities.

In addition to the potential impacts to the ACA, there could be changes to other GHC Programs, such as a change to the structure of Medicaid. Congress and the
Administration have sought to convert Medicaid into a block grant or to institute per capita spending caps, among other things. These changes, if implemented, could
eliminate the guarantee that everyone who is eligible and applies for benefits would receive them and could potentially give states new authority to restrict eligibility, cut
benefits and make it more difficult for people to enroll. Additionally, several states are considering and pursuing changes to their Medicaid programs, such as requiring
recipients to engage in employment or education activities as a condition of eligibility for most adults, disenrolling recipients for failure to pay a premium, or adjusting
premium amounts based on income. Many states have recently shifted a majority or all of their Medicaid program beneficiaries into Managed Medicaid Plans. Managed
Medicaid Plans have some flexibility to set rates for providers, but many states require minimum provider rates in their contracts with such plans. In July of each year, CMS
releases the annual Medicaid Managed Care Rate Development Guide which provides federal baseline rules for setting reimbursement rates in managed care plans. We
could be affected by lower reimbursement rates in some of all of the Managed Medicaid Plans with which we participate. We could also be materially impacted if we are
dropped from the provider network in one or more of the Managed Medicaid Plans with which we currently participate. In Florida, more than 75% of the Medicaid
population participates in a Managed Medicaid Plan, with even higher participation rates for children.

We cannot predict with any assurance the ultimate effect of these laws and resulting changes to payments under GHC Programs, nor can we provide any
assurance that they will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our securities.
Further, any fiscal tightening impacting GHC Programs or changes to the structure of any GHC Programs could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our securities.
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The Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act

The Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act (“MACRA”) requires Medicare providers to choose to participate in one of two payment formulas, Merit-
Based Incentive Payment System (“MIPS”) or Alternative Payment Models (“APMs”). Beginning in 2020, MIPS allowed eligible physicians to receive incentive payments
based on the achievement of certain quality and cost metrics, among other measures, and be reduced for those who are underperforming against those same metrics and
measures. As an alternative, physicians can choose to participate in an advanced APM, and physicians who are meaningful participants in APMs will receive bonus
payments from Medicare pursuant to the law. MACRA also remains subject to review and potential modification by Congress, as well as shifting regulatory requirements
established by CMS. We currently anticipate that our affiliated physicians who are eligible to participate in the MIPS program will continue to be eligible to receive MIPS
bonus payments, although the amounts of such bonus payments are not expected to be material. We will continue to operationalize the provisions of MACRA and assess any
further changes to the law or additional regulations enacted pursuant to the law.

We cannot predict the ultimate effect that these changes will have on us, nor can we provide any assurance that its provisions will not have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our securities.

Medicaid Expansion

The ACA also allows states to expand their Medicaid programs through federal payments that fund most of the cost of increasing the Medicaid eligibility income
limit from a state’s historic eligibility levels to 133% of the federal poverty level. To date, 38 states and the District of Columbia have expanded Medicaid eligibility to cover
this additional low-income patient population, and other states are considering expansion. All of the states in which we operate, however, already cover children in the first
year of life and pregnant women if their household income is at or below 133% of the federal poverty level.

“Surprise” Billing Legislation

In late 2020, Congress enacted legislation intended to protect patients from “surprise” medical bills when services are furnished by providers who are not subject
to contractual arrangements and payment limitations with the patient’s insurer. Effective January 1, 2022, patients will be protected from unexpected or “surprise” medical
bills that could arise from out-of-network emergency care provided at an out-of-network facility or at in-network facilities by out-of-network providers and out-of-network
nonemergency care provided at in-network facilities without the patient’s informed consent. Many states have passed similar legislation, but the federal government has
been working to enact a ban on surprise billing for quite some time.

Under the “No Surprises Act,” patients are only required to pay the in-network cost-sharing amount, which will be determined through an established formula
and will count toward the patient’s health plan deductible and out-of-pocket cost-sharing limits. Providers will generally not be permitted to balance bill patients beyond this
cost-sharing amount. An out-of-network provider will only be permitted to bill a patient more than the in-network cost-sharing amount for care if the provider gives the
patient notice of the provider’s network status and delivers to the patient or their health plan an estimate of charges within certain specified timeframes, and obtains the
patient’s written consent prior to the delivery of care. Providers that violate these surprise billing prohibitions may be subject to state enforcement action or federal civil
monetary penalties.

These measures could limit the amount we can charge and recover for services we furnish where we have not contracted with the patient’s insurer, and therefore
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our securities. Moreover, these measures
could affect our ability to contract with certain payors and under historically similar terms and may cause, and the prospect of these changes may have caused, payors to
terminate their contracts with us and our affiliated practices, further affecting our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our
securities. Should any relationships with payors continue on an out-of-network basis, the No Surprises Act requires that rate disputes be resolved through binding arbitration,
in which both the payor and provider submit a requested rate and the arbitrator selects one submission without hearing or modification of the selected request. These
unpredictable results will bind both the provider and payor for a 90-day period.

Non-GAAP Measures

In our analysis of our results of operations, we use certain non-GAAP financial measures. We report adjusted earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and
amortization from continuing operations, which is defined as income (loss) from continuing operations before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, and
transformational and restructuring related expenses. We also report adjusted earnings per share (“Adjusted EPS”) from continuing operations which consists of diluted
income (loss) from continuing operations per common and common equivalent share adjusted for amortization expense, stock-based compensation expense,
transformational and restructuring related expenses and any impacts from discrete tax events. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 as relevant, both Adjusted
EBITDA and Adjusted EPS are being further adjusted to exclude the impacts from the gain on sale of building and loss on the early extinguishment of debt.

We believe these measures, in addition to income (loss) from continuing operations, net income (loss) and diluted net income (loss) from continuing operations
per common and common equivalent share, provide investors with useful supplemental information to compare and understand our underlying business trends and
performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis. These measures should be considered a supplement to, and not a substitute for, financial performance measures
determined in accordance with GAAP. In addition, since these non-GAAP measures are not determined in accordance with GAAP, they are susceptible to varying
calculations and may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies.
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For a reconciliation of each of Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations and Adjusted EPS from continuing operations to the most directly comparable
GAAP measures for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, refer to the tables below (in thousands, except per share data).

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020
Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Mednax, Inc. $ 30,533 $ 7,084 $ 35885 § (11,415)
Interest expense 16,879 28,265 34,524 55,930
Gain on sale of building (7,280) - (7,280) -
Loss on early extinguishment of debt - - 14,532 -
Income tax provision 7,363 3,097 2,408 4,182
Depreciation and amortization expense 8,106 6,751 16,137 13,554
Transformational and restructuring related expenses 9,932 10,479 14,810 26,555
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations attributable to
Mednax, Inc. $ 65,533 $ 55,676  $ 111,016  $ 88,806
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 85,933 83,744
Income from continuing operations and diluted income from
continuing operations per share attributable to Mednax, Inc. $ 30,533 $ 036 $ 7,084 § 0.08
Adjustments e
Amortization (net of tax of $576 and $520) 1,728 0.02 1,559 0.02
Stock-based compensation (net of tax of $1,434 and $1,605) 4,301 0.04 4,812 0.07
Transformational and restructuring expenses (net of tax of
$2,483 and $2,620) 7,449 0.09 7,859 0.09
Gain on sale of building (net of tax of $1,820) (5,460) (0.06) — —
Net impact from discrete tax events (3,516) (0.04) 110 —
Adjusted income and diluted EPS from continuing operations
attributable to Mednax, Inc. $ 35035 $ 041 8§ 21,424 $ 0.26

(1) Our blended statutory tax rate of 25% was used to calculate the tax effects of the adjustments for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 85,653 83,061
Income (loss) from continuing operations and diluted income from
continuing operations per share attributable to Mednax, Inc. $ 35885 % 042 % (11,415) $ (0.14)
Adjustments o,
Amortization (net of tax of $1,466 and $1,032) 4,400 0.05 3,094 0.04
Stock-based compensation (net of tax of $2,363 and $3,418) 7,089 0.08 10,254 0.12
Transformational and restructuring expenses (net of tax of
$3,702 and $6,639) 11,108 0.13 19,916 0.24
Gain on sale of building (net of tax of $1,820) (5,460) (0.06) — —
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (net of tax of $3,633) 10,899 0.13 — —
Net impact from discrete tax events (8,583) (0.10) 4,944 0.06
Adjusted income and diluted EPS from continuing operations
attributable to Mednax, Inc. $ 55,338 $ 065 § 26,793 § 0.32

(2) Our blended statutory tax rate of 25% was used to calculate the tax effects of the adjustments for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.

Results of Operations
Three Months Ended June 30, 2021 as Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2020

Our net revenue attributable to continuing operations was $473.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $415.4 million for the same
period in 2020. The increase in revenue of $57.6 million, or 13.9%, was primarily attributable to an increase in same-unit revenue. Same units are those units at which we
provided services for the entire current period and the entire comparable period. Same-unit net revenue increased by $54.5 million, or 13.4%. The increase in same-unit net
revenue was comprised of an increase of $38.8 million, or 9.5%, related to patient service volumes and an increase of $15.7, or 3.9%, from net reimbursement-related
factors. The increase in revenue from patient service volumes was related to increases across all of our hospital-based and office-based women’s and children’s services.
Prior year volumes were significantly impacted by COVID-19. The net increase in revenue related to net reimbursement-related factors was primarily due to increases in
administrative fees from our hospital partners, modest improvements in managed care contracting and an increase
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in revenue resulting from a decrease in the percentage of our patients being enrolled in GHC Programs, partially offset by a decrease in CARES Act relief as no relief was
recorded during the second quarter of 2021.

Practice salaries and benefits attributable to continuing operations increased $34.0 million, or 12.0%, to $317.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021,
as compared to $283.0 million for the same period in 2020. Of the $34.0 million increase, $25.1 million was related to salaries which primarily reflected increases in
clinician compensation expense driven by the comparison to reduced salaries expense during 2020 resulting from COVID-19 mitigation efforts. The remaining $8.9 million
increase was related to benefits and incentive compensation, with the increase primarily related to incentive compensation driven by improved results.

Practice supplies and other operating expenses attributable to continuing operations increased $4.0 million, or 19.9%, to $24.2 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2021, as compared to $20.2 million for the same period in 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to practice supply, rent and other costs related to our
existing units for which the activity across many expense categories such as travel, office and professional services expenses in 2020 had decreased as a result of COVID-
19.

General and administrative expenses attributable to continuing operations primarily include all billing and collection functions and all other salaries, benefits,
supplies and operating expenses not specifically identifiable to the day-to-day operations of our physician practices and services. General and administrative expenses were
$71.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $60.5 million for the same period in 2020. The net increase of $10.5 million is primarily related to
increases in various information technology related expenses including systems fees, professional licenses and data center enhancements as well as a net increase in
compensation expense when comparing to the prior year that included decreases in compensation expense from COVID-19 mitigation efforts such as furloughs and net
staffing reductions. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of net revenue was 15.0% for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to 14.6% for the
same period in 2020, with the increase of 45 basis points driven by the lower salaries in 2020 and the increased information technology spend in 2021. Certain general and
administrative expenses related to corporate overhead represent various support services provided across the company, including approximately $3.1 million and $2.8
million in costs for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, related to support for the buyer of the anesthesiology services medical group through a
transition services agreement. Therefore, general and administrative expenses do not reflect potential general and administrative cost savings that may be achieved in future
periods.

Gain on sale of building was $7.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and resulted from the sale of our secondary corporate office building.

Transformational and restructuring related expenses attributable to continuing operations were $9.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as
compared to $10.5 million for the same period in 2020. The decrease of $0.6 million reflects the reduction in the scope of activities limiting them to initiatives critical to the
transformation of our business operations with the expenses during the second quarter of 2021 primarily related to contract termination costs resulting from the transition of
our revenue cycle management activities to a third party with the remaining expenses related to external consulting costs for other initiatives.

Depreciation and amortization expense attributable to continuing operations was $8.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $6.8
million for the same period in 2020. The increase of $1.3 million was primarily related to an increase in depreciation expense related to information technology equipment.

Income from operations attributable to continuing operations increased $15.4 million, or 44.7%, to $50.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as
compared to $34.6 million for the same period in 2020. Our operating margin was 10.6% for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to 8.3% for the same
period in 2020. The increase in our operating margin was primarily due to higher revenue growth, partially offset by net increases in overall operating expenses as compared
to the second quarter of 2020 that included various decreases from COVID-19 cost mitigation initiatives. Excluding transformation and restructuring related expenses and
the gain on the sale of building, our income from operations attributable to continuing operations was $52.7 million and $45.0 million, and our operating margin was 11.1%
and 10.8% for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We believe excluding the impacts from the transformational and restructuring related activity
provides a more comparable view of our operating income and operating margin from continuing operations.

Total non-operating expenses attributable to continuing operations were $12.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $24.4 million
for the same period in 2020. The net decrease in non-operating expenses was primarily related to the decrease in interest expense resulting from the redemption of our
5.25% senior unsecured notes due 2023 (the “2023 Notes™) in January 2021.

Our effective income tax rate attributable to continuing operations (“tax rate”) was 19.4% for the three months ended June 30, 2021 as compared to 30.4% for the
three months ended June 30, 2020. The second quarter 2021 tax rate includes a net discrete tax benefit of $3.5 million, primarily related to a change in estimate for the 2020
net operating loss carryback as allowed under the CARES Act for refund at the 35% federal tax rate. Income taxes for the second quarter of 2020 were calculated by
applying the actual year-to-date tax rate to our pre-tax income. After excluding discrete tax impacts, during the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, our tax rate was
28.7% and 29.3%, respectively. We believe excluding discrete tax impacts provides a more comparable view of our tax rate.

Income from continuing operations attributable to Mednax, Inc. was $30.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $7.1 million for the
same period in 2020. Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations attributable to Mednax, Inc. was $65.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared
to $55.7 million for the same period in 2020.

Diluted earnings from continuing operations per common and common equivalent share attributable to Mednax, Inc. was $0.36 on weighted average shares
outstanding of 85.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $0.08 on weighted average
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shares outstanding of 83.7 million for the same period in 2020. Adjusted EPS from continuing operations was $0.41 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared
to $0.26 for the same period in 2020. The increase of 2.2 million in our weighted average shares outstanding is primarily due to the impact of shares issued in 2020 and 2021
through various equity programs.

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $4.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to a loss of $679.5 million for the same
period in 2020. Diluted income from discontinued operations per common and common equivalent share was $0.05 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared
to a diluted loss per share of $8.11 three months ended June 30, 2020.

Net income attributable to Mednax, Inc. was $35.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to a loss of $672.4 million for the same period
in 2020. Diluted net income per common and common equivalent share attributable to Mednax, Inc. was $0.41 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to a
diluted loss per share of $8.03 for the same period in 2020.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 as Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

Our net revenue attributable to continuing operations was $919.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $856.7 million for the same
period in 2020. The increase in revenue of $63.0 million, or 7.4%, was primarily attributable to an increase in same-unit revenue. Same units are those units at which we
provided services for the entire current period and the entire comparable period. Same-unit net revenue increased by $66.2 million, or 7.9%. The increase in same-unit net
revenue was comprised of an increase of $37.6 million, or 4.5%, from net reimbursement-related factors and an increase of $28.6 million, or 3.4%, related to patient service
volumes. The net increase in revenue related to net reimbursement-related factors was primarily due to increases in administrative fees from our hospital partners, an
increase in revenue resulting from a decrease in the percentage of our patients being enrolled in GHC Programs and modest improvements in managed care contracting. The
increase in revenue from patient service volumes was related to increases across all our hospital-based and office-based women’s and children’s services. Prior year volumes
were significantly impacted by COVID-19.

Practice salaries and benefits attributable to continuing operations increased $36.8 million, or 6.1%, to $636.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as
compared to $599.2 million for the same period in 2020. Of the $36.8 million increase, $26.2 million was related to salaries which primarily reflected increases in clinician
compensation expense driven by the comparison to reduced salaries expense during 2020 resulting from COVID-19 mitigation efforts. The remaining $10.6 million was
related to benefits and incentive compensation, with the increase to incentive compensation driven by improved results, partially offset by a decrease in malpractice expense.

Practice supplies and other operating expenses attributable to continuing operations increased $2.4 million, or 5.4%, to $46.4 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2021, as compared to $44.0 million for the same period in 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to practice supply, rent and other costs related to our
existing units for which the activity across many expense categories such as travel, office and professional services expenses in 2020 had decreased as a result of COVID-
19.

General and administrative expenses attributable to continuing operations primarily include all billing and collection functions and all other salaries, benefits,
supplies and operating expenses not specifically identifiable to the day-to-day operations of our physician practices and services. General and administrative expenses were
$137.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $127.9 million for the same period in 2020. The net increase of $9.6 million is primarily related to
increases in various information technology related expenses including systems fees, professional licenses, data center enhancements, and security as well as a net increase
in compensation expense when comparing to the prior year that included decreases in compensation expense from COVID-19 mitigation efforts such as furloughs and net
staffing reductions. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of net revenue was 15.0% for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to 14.9% for the
same period in 2020. Certain general and administrative expenses related to corporate overhead represent various support services provided across the company, including
approximately $8.2 million and $2.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, in costs related to support for the buyers of the anesthesiology
services medical group and the radiology services medical group through transition services agreements. Therefore, general and administrative expenses do not reflect
potential general and administrative cost savings that may be achieved in future periods.

Transformational and restructuring related expenses attributable to continuing operations were $14.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as
compared to $26.6 million for the same period in 2020. The decrease of $11.8 million reflects the reduction in the scope of activities limiting them to initiatives critical to
our business operations with the expenses during the six months ended June 30, 2021 primarily for external consulting costs and contract termination costs.

Depreciation and amortization expense attributable to continuing operations was $16.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $13.6
million for the same period in 2020. The increase of $2.5 million was primarily related to an increase in depreciation expense related to information technology equipment.

Income from operations attributable to continuing operations increased $30.7 million, or 67.8%, to $76.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as
compared to $45.4 million for the same period in 2020. Our operating margin was 8.3% for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to 5.3% for the same period in
2020. The increase in our operating margin was primarily due to higher revenue growth, partially offset by net increases in overall operating expenses, primarily incentive
compensation expense. Excluding the transformation and restructuring related expenses and gain on sale of building, our income from operations attributable to continuing
operations was $83.7 million and $71.9 million, and our operating margin was 9.1% and 8.4% for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We believe
excluding the impacts from the transformational and restructuring related activity provides a more comparable view of our operating income and operating margin from
continuing operations.
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Total non-operating expenses attributable to continuing operations were $37.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $52.6 million for
the same period in 2020. The decrease in non-operating expenses was primarily related to a decrease in interest expense resulting from the redemption of our 2023 Notes in
January 2021 and an increase in other income related to the transition services being provided to the buyers of our divested medical groups, partially offset by the loss on the
early redemption of our 2023 Notes. The six months ended June 30, 2020 also included the unfavorable impact from the settlement of a litigation matter within investment
and other income.

Our tax rate was 6.3% for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and our tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was not meaningful due to the pre-tax loss
generated due to the impacts from COVID-19. The tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2021 includes a net discrete tax benefit of $8.6 million, primarily related to a
change in estimate for the 2020 net operating loss carryback as allowed under the CARES Act for refund at the 35% federal tax rate. Income taxes for the six months ended
June 30, 2020 were calculated by applying the actual year-to-date tax rate to our pre-tax loss. After excluding discrete tax impacts, during the six months ended June 30,
2021 and 2020, our tax rate was 28.7% and 10.5%, respectively. The tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was impacted by the pre-tax loss generated. We
believe excluding discrete tax impacts on our tax rate provides a more comparable view of our effective income tax rate.

Income from continuing operations attributable to Mednax, Inc. was $35.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to a loss of $11.4 million
for the same period in 2020. Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations was $111.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $88.8 million for the
same period in 2020.

Diluted earnings from continuing operations per common and common equivalent share attributable to Mednax, Inc. was $0.42 on weighted average shares
outstanding of 85.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to diluted loss per share of $0.14 on weighted average shares outstanding of 83.1 million
for the same period in 2020. Adjusted EPS from continuing operations was $0.65 for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $0.32 for the same period in 2020.
The increase of 2.6 million in our weighted average shares outstanding is primarily due to the impact of shares issued in 2020 and early 2021 through various equity
programs.

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $16.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to a loss of $679.7 million for the same
period in 2020. Diluted income from discontinued operations per common and common equivalent share was $0.19 for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to
diluted loss per share of $8.18 for the same period in 2020.

Net income attributable to Mednax, Inc. was $52.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to a loss of $691.1 million for the same period
in 2020. Diluted net income per common and common equivalent share was $0.61 for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to diluted loss per share of $8.32 for
the same period in 2020.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2021, we had $338.2 million of cash and cash equivalents attributable to continuing operations as compared to $1.12 billion at December 31,
2020. Additionally, we had working capital attributable to continuing operations of $401.2 million at June 30, 2021, a decrease of $703.8 million from working capital of
$1.11 billion at December 31, 2020. The net decrease in working capital is primarily due to the redemption of the 2023 Notes in January 2021.

Cash Flows from Continuing Operations

Cash (used in) provided by operating, investing and financing activities from continuing operations is summarized as follows (in thousands):

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020
Operating activities $ (28,484) $ (55,501)
Investing activities 1,375 (30,690)
Financing activities (760,810) 637

Operating Activities from Continuing Operations

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, our net cash used in operating activities for continuing operations was $28.5 million, compared to $55.5 million for
the same period in 2020. The net decrease in cash used of $27.0 million was primarily due to an increase in cash flow from higher earnings, changes in prepaid expenses and
other assets and changes in accounts payable and accrued expenses, primarily incentive compensation payments, partially offset by decreases in cash flow from accounts
receivable, other liabilities and income taxes.

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, cash flow from accounts receivable for continuing operations decreased by $26.0 million, as compared to an
increase of $29.7 million for the same period in 2020. The decrease in cash flow from accounts receivable for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was primarily due to net
increases in ending accounts receivable balances at existing units due to higher revenue, partially offset by increased cash collections.

Days sales outstanding (“DSO”) is one of the key factors that we use to evaluate the condition of our accounts receivable and the related allowances for
contractual adjustments and uncollectibles. DSO reflects the timeliness of cash collections on billed revenue and the level of reserves on outstanding accounts receivable.
Our DSO for continuing operations was 48.0 days at June 30, 2021 as compared to 52.3 days at December 31, 2020. The decrease in our DSO primarily related to the timing
of cash collections at our existing units.
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Investing Activities from Continuing Operations

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, our net cash provided by investing activities for continuing operations of $1.4 million consisted of net proceeds from
the sale of our building of $24.7 million and net proceeds from maturities or sale of investments of $2.4 million, almost entirely offset by capital expenditures of $18.5
million and acquisitions payments of $7.2 million.

Financing Activities from Continuing Operations

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, our net cash used in financing activities for continuing operations of $760.8 million primarily consisted of $759.8
million related to the redemption of the 2023 Notes, including the call premium, and the repurchase of $2.2 million of our common stock, partially offset by proceeds from
the issuance of common stock of $2.6 million.

Liquidity

On March 25, 2020, we amended and restated our Credit Agreement to, among other things, (i) establish a deemed Consolidated EBITDA of $139.2 million for
the second and third quarters of 2020, reflecting average Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations for the prior eight quarters (calculated for purposes of the Credit
Agreement), which will be used in the calculation of rolling four consecutive quarter Consolidated EBITDA under the Credit Agreement, (ii) temporarily increase the
maximum consolidated net leverage ratio required to be maintained by us from 4.50:1:00 to 5.00:1:00 for the second and third quarters of 2020 and 4.75:1:00 for the fourth
quarter of 2020, before returning to 4.50:1:00 for the first quarter of 2021 and beyond, (iii) require that we maintain minimum availability under the Credit Agreement of
$300.0 million through the third quarter of 2021, (iv) provide for a weekly repayment of borrowings under the Credit Agreement through the second quarter of 2021 using
unrestricted cash on hand in excess of $300.0 million, plus a reserve for certain payables, and (v) temporarily restricted our ability to make restricted payments under the
Credit Agreement for the remainder of 2020, subject to certain exceptions.

The Credit Agreement provides for a $1.2 billion unsecured revolving credit facility, subject to the limitations discussed above, and includes a $37.5 million sub-
facility for the issuance of letters of credit. The Credit Agreement matures on March 28, 2024 and is guaranteed by substantially all of our subsidiaries and affiliated
professional contractors. At our option, borrowings under the Credit Agreement will bear interest at (i) the alternate base rate (defined as the higher of (a) the prime rate,
(b) the Federal Funds Rate plus 1/2 of 1.00% and (c) LIBOR for an interest period of one month plus 1.00%) plus an applicable margin rate ranging from 0.125% to 0.750%
based on our consolidated leverage ratio or (ii) the LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin rate ranging from 1.125% to 1.750% based on our consolidated leverage ratio. The
Credit Agreement also calls for other customary fees and charges, including an unused commitment fee ranging from 0.150% to 0.200% of the unused lending
commitments, based on our consolidated leverage ratio. The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants and restrictions, including covenants that require us to
maintain a minimum interest charge ratio, not to exceed a specified consolidated leverage ratio and to comply with laws, and restrictions on the ability to pay dividends and
make certain other distributions, as specified therein. Failure to comply with these covenants would constitute an event of default under the Credit Agreement,
notwithstanding the ability of the company to meet its debt service obligations. The Credit Agreement also includes various customary remedies for the lenders following an
event of default, including the acceleration of repayment of outstanding amounts under the Credit Agreement.

At June 30, 2021, we had no outstanding principal balance on our Credit Agreement. We had one outstanding letter of credit of $0.1 million which reduced the
amount available on our Credit Agreement to $899.9 million at June 30, 2021, after giving effect to the temporary reduction of the capacity of our Credit Agreement
described above through September 30, 2021.

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, we redeemed the outstanding principal balance of $750.0 million on the 2023 Notes. We recognized a loss on debt
extinguishment of $14.5 million, which primarily included cash premiums and accelerated amortization of deferred financing costs.

At June 30, 2021, we had an outstanding principal balance of $1.0 billion on our 6.25% senior unsecured notes due 2027 (the “2027 Notes”). Our obligations
under the 2027 Notes are guaranteed on an unsecured senior basis by the same subsidiaries and affiliated professional contractors that guarantee our Credit Agreement.
Interest on the 2027 Notes accrues at the rate of 6.25% per annum, or $62.5 million, and is payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and July 15.

The indenture under which the 2027 Notes are issued, among other things, limits our ability to (1) incur liens and (2) enter into sale and lease-back transactions,
and also limits our ability to merge or dispose of all or substantially all of our assets, in all cases, subject to a number of customary exceptions. Although we are not required
to make mandatory redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the 2027 Notes, upon the occurrence of a change in control of Mednax, we may be required to
repurchase the 2027 Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2027 Notes repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest.

At June 30, 2021, we believe we were in compliance, in all material respects, with the financial covenants and other restrictions applicable to us under the Credit
Agreement and the 2027 Notes. We believe we will be in compliance with these covenants throughout 2021.

We maintain professional liability insurance policies with third-party insurers, subject to self-insured retention, exclusions and other restrictions. We self-insure
our liabilities to pay self-insured retention amounts under our professional liability insurance coverage through a wholly owned captive insurance subsidiary. We record
liabilities for self-insured amounts and claims incurred but not reported based on an actuarial valuation using historical loss information, claim emergence patterns and
various actuarial assumptions. Our total liability related to professional liability risks at June 30, 2021 was $303.8 million, of which $36.5 million is classified as a current
liability within accounts payable
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and accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. In addition, there is a corresponding insurance receivable of $58.6 million recorded as a component of other assets
for certain professional liability claims that are covered by insurance policies.

We anticipate that funds generated from operations, together with our current cash on hand and funds available under our Credit Agreement, will be sufficient to
finance our working capital requirements, fund anticipated acquisitions and capital expenditures, fund expenses related to our transformational and restructuring activities,
fund our share repurchase programs and meet our contractual obligations for at least the next 12 months from the date of issuance of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Caution Concerning Forward-Looking Statements

Certain information included or incorporated by reference in this Quarterly Report may be deemed to be “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). Forward-looking statements may include, but are not limited to, statements relating to our objectives, plans and strategies, and all
statements, other than statements of historical facts, that address activities, events or developments that we intend, expect, project, believe or anticipate will or may occur in
the future are forward-looking statements. These statements are often characterized by terminology such as “believe,” “hope,” “may,” “anticipate,” “should,” “intend,”
“plan,” “will,” “expect,” “estimate,” “project,” “positioned,” “strategy” and similar expressions, and are based on assumptions and assessments made by our management in
light of their experience and their perception of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and other factors they believe to be appropriate. Any
forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report are made as of the date hereof, and we undertake no duty to update or revise any such statements, whether as a result of
new information, future events or otherwise. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties. Important
factors that could cause actual results, developments and business decisions to differ materially from forward-looking statements are described in the 2020 Form 10-K,
including the section entitled “Risk Factors.”

» »
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are subject to market risk primarily from exposure to changes in interest rates based on our financing, investing and cash management activities. We intend to
manage interest rate risk through the use of a combination of fixed rate and variable rate debt. We borrow under our Credit Agreement at various interest rate options based
on the Alternate Base Rate or LIBOR rate depending on certain financial ratios. At June 30, 2021, we had no outstanding principal balance on our Credit Agreement.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of June 30, 2021.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

During the three months ended June 30, 2021, we implemented the financial module of our new enterprise resource planning (ERP) system. As a result of the
implementation, there were certain changes to our internal control over financial reporting related to the new ERP system. Our new ERP system replaced our legacy system
in which our financial transactions and interfaces are processed and recorded. Our new ERP system is intended to provide us with enhanced transactional processing and
management tools compared to our legacy system and is intended to enhance internal controls over financial reporting. We believe our new ERP system will facilitate better
transactional reporting and oversight, enhance our internal control over financial reporting, and function as an important component of our disclosure controls and
procedures. There have been no other changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended June 30, 2021 that have materially
affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We expect that audits, inquiries and investigations from government authorities and agencies will occur in the ordinary course of business. Such audits, inquiries
and investigations and their ultimate resolutions, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and the trading price of our securities.

In the ordinary course of our business, we become involved in pending and threatened legal actions and proceedings, most of which involve claims of medical
malpractice related to medical services provided by our affiliated physicians. Our contracts with hospitals generally require us to indemnify them and their affiliates for
losses resulting from the negligence of our affiliated physicians and other clinicians. We may also become subject to other lawsuits, including with payors or other
counterparties that could involve large claims and significant defense costs. We believe, based upon a review of pending actions and proceedings, that the outcome of such
legal actions and proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or the trading price of our
securities. The outcome of such actions and proceedings, however, cannot be predicted with certainty and an unfavorable resolution of one or more of them could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our securities.

On March 20, 2019, a derivative action was filed by plaintiff Beverly Jackson on behalf of Mednax, Inc. against Mednax, Inc. and certain of its officers and
directors in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida (Case Number CACE-19-006253). The plaintiff purported to bring suit derivatively on
behalf of our company against certain of our officers and directors for breach of fiduciary duties and unjust enrichment claiming alleged violations of Sections 10(b) and
20(a) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, based on statements made by the defendants primarily concerning our former anesthesiology business. The complaint
seeks unspecified damages, interest, attorneys’ fees and other costs. We filed a motion to dismiss in December 2019, and on March 16, 2020, an order granting our motion to
dismiss without prejudice was issued. On April 6, 2020, the plaintiff filed an amended complaint, and on April 30, 2020, we filed a motion to dismiss the amended
complaint. On September 24, 2020, our motion to dismiss was granted, but the plaintiff was granted 20 days to amend their complaint, and on October 14, 2020, the plaintiff
filed a second amended complaint. We filed our motion to dismiss the second amended complaint on October 26, 2020. On December 18, 2020 an Order was entered
summarily denying our motion to dismiss the second amended complaint, and our answer to the second amended complaint was filed on May 3, 2021. We settled the matter
in June 2021.

Although we currently maintain liability insurance coverage intended to cover professional liability and certain other claims, we cannot ensure that our insurance coverage
will be adequate to cover liabilities arising out of claims asserted against us in the future where the outcomes of such claims are unfavorable to us. With respect to
professional liability risk, we self-insure a significant portion of this risk through our wholly owned captive insurance subsidiary. Liabilities in excess of our insurance
coverage, including coverage for professional liability and certain other claims, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and the trading price of our securities.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
There have been no material changes to the risk factors previously disclosed in our 2020 Form 10-K.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

During the three months ended June 30, 2021, we repurchased 7,858 shares of our common stock that were withheld to satisfy minimum statutory withholding
obligations in connection with the vesting of restricted stock and deferred stock.

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares

Total Number of that May Yet
Shares Purchased Be Purchased
Total Number as part of Under the
of Shares Average Price the Repurchase Repurchase
Period Repurchased © Paid per Share Program Programs @

April 1 - April 30, 2021 = $ — = @
May 1 - May 31, 2021 — — — (@)
June 1 — June 30, 2021 7,858 (b) 31.98 — (@)
Total 7,858 $ 31.98 — (@

(@) We have two active repurchase programs. Our July 2013 program allows us to repurchase shares of our common stock up to an amount sufficient to offset the dilutive impact
from the issuance of shares under our equity compensation programs, which is estimated to be approximately 1.0 million shares for 2021. Our August 2018 repurchase program
allows us to repurchase up to an additional $500.0 million of shares of our common stock, of which we repurchased $403.5 million as of June 30, 2021.

(b) Represents shares withheld to satisfy minimum statutory withholding obligations of an aggregate of $2.2 million in connection with the vesting of restricted stock.

The amount and timing of any future repurchases will depend upon several factors, including general economic and market conditions and trading restrictions.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit No. Description

Schedule 14A, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2021).

10.2 Amended and Restated Mednax, Inc. 1996 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by, reference to Exhibit B to the Company’s Definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2021).

31.1+ Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2+ Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a),_as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1* Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.1+ Interactive Data File

101.INS+ XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH+ XBRL Schema Document.

101.CAL+ XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF+ XBRL Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB+ XBRL Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE+ XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document.

104+ Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

+ Filed herewith.

* Furnished herewith.

T Portions of this exhibit have been redacted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(10). The omitted information is not material and would likely cause
competitive harm to the Company if publicly disclosed. Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item
601(a)(5). The Company agrees to furnish a copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

Mednax, Inc.

Date: August 6, 2021 By:_/s/ Mark S. Ordan
Mark S. Ordan
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 6, 2021 By:_/s/ C. Marc Richards
C. Marc Richards
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: August 6, 2021 By:_/s/ John C. Pepia
John C. Pepia
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THIS EXHIBIT BECAUSE IT IS NOT
MATERIAL AND WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO THE REGISTRANT IF PUBLICLY
DISCLOSED. [***] INDICATES THAT INFORMATION HAS BEEN REDACTED.

CONFIDENTIAL
EXECUTION

Exhibit 10.3

SERVICES AGREEMENT

between

MEDNAX SERVICES, INC.

and

R1 RCM INC.



SERVICES AGREEMENT

This Services Agreement is entered into on May 12, 2021, and will be effective as of May 1, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), between Mednax
Services, Inc. (“Client”), and R1 RCM Inc. (“R1”). Client and R1 are each sometimes referred to herein as a “Party”, and collectively, the “Parties.”

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Client desires to procure from R1, and R1 desires to provide to Client and the Service Recipients, revenue cycle management and
related services through an outsourced model; and

WHEREAS, Client and R1 have engaged in negotiations, discussions and due diligence that have culminated in the formation of the contractual
relationship described in this Services Agreement.

AGREEMENT

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein, and for other good and valid consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and incorporating the recitals above, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

IDEFINITIONS

L1 Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below (each such meaning to be
equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of the respective terms so defined).

“Adverse Judgment” means an adverse judgment, injunction, order, or decision made against a Party (or, in regards to Client, a Service
Recipient) by a domestic or foreign national, state, county, municipal, local, territorial, or other government body, authority, department, agency, court,
official or public or statutory person of competent jurisdiction.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to a legal person, any entity at any time Controlling, Controlled by or under common Control with such legal
person.

“Aggregate In-Scope Base Year Cash” means, at any point in time, the sum total Fixed Individual Base Year Cash values of all then-currently
existing Service Recipients receiving Services hereunder, as such values are to be set forth on Exhibit 3.6 on or prior to the Finalization Date (as defined in
Exhibit 11.1-A). [***]

“Applicable Law” means any applicable declaration, decree, directive, order, ordinance, law, restriction, regulation or rule of or by any
Governmental Authority, including the provisions of 42 U.S.C. §§ 1320d through 1320d-8 and 42 C.F.R. §§ 160, 162 and 164, which are commonly
referred to as “HIPAA” and Title XIII of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, Pub. L. No. 111-5(2009), commonly referred to as the
“HITECH Act”, and the rules of all applicable regulatory agencies with jurisdiction over Client or any Service Recipient (including, but not limited to, the
Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”)).

“Base Fee” has the meaning given in Exhibit 11.1-A.

“Baseline Cash” means the sum total of all Fixed Individual Base Year Cash values for all Service Recipient Entities as of the Effective Date, to
be set forth on Exhibit 3.6 on or prior to the Finalization Date. The Baseline Cash is [***].

“Cash Collections” means the amounts adjudicated and posted against individual patient accounts as payments or posted to unapplied cash
accounts through the provision of in-scope Services. The primary source of payment for in-scope Services is payments from third-party payors. In the event
that collections related to specific patient activity are not posted/adjudicated at the patient account level, these payments are also included as part of Cash



Collections (e.g., lump-sum underpayment settlements or take-backs). For payors that have periodic interim payments, vouchered remittances will be
considered cash.

“Client Competitors” means [***].

“Client Consents” means all licenses, consents, permits, approvals and authorizations that are necessary to allow R1 and R1 Contractors to
access and (a) use Authorized Space, Retained Systems, and other Client assets as provided in Article VII, (b) use the services provided for the benefit of
Client under the In-Scope Agreements or third-party software licenses, or (c) use the Client Intellectual Property, all to the extent necessary for R1 to
perform the Services.

“Client Data” means all data submitted, directly or indirectly, to R1 by Service Recipients or patients, or obtained or learned by R1 in connection
with the Services provided by R1, including PHI; provided, however, that Client Data does not include (a) R1’s proprietary algorithms, methodologies and
processes or (b) information or data created by R1 to support its operations (e.g., to create R1 financial, business or other business records).

“Control” and its derivatives means: (a) the legal, beneficial, or equitable ownership, directly or indirectly, of (i) at least fifty percent (50%) of
the aggregate of all voting equity interest in an entity or (ii) equity interest having the right to at least fifty percent (50%) of the profits of an entity or, in the
event of dissolution, to at least fifty percent (50%) of the assets of an entity; (b) the right to appoint, directly or indirectly, a majority of the board of
directors of the entity; (c) the right to control, directly or indirectly, the management or direction of the entity by contract or corporate governance
document; or (d) in the case of a partnership, the holding by an entity (or one of its Affiliates) of the position of sole general partner.

“Designated Employees” has the meaning given in Exhibit 10.1.

“Employment Effective Date” has the meaning given in Exhibit 10.1.

“Federal Health Care Program” means any plan or program providing health care benefits, whether directly through insurance or otherwise, that
is funded directly, in whole or part, by the United States Government (other than the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program), including any State
health care program that receives funding from the United States Government.

“Fixed Individual Base Year Cash” means, for each Service Recipient, (a) for any Service Recipient existing as of the Effective Date, the Cash
Collections associated with such Service Recipient during the Baseline Year, to be set forth on Exhibit 3.6 on or prior to the Finalization Date, or (b) for
any Service Recipient added by Client pursuant to Section 5.1, the Cash Collections for the Acquired Service Recipient in the [***], as added to Exhibit 3.6
by amendment thereof; provided, however, that the Parties may agree [***].

“Governmental Approvals” means all licenses, consents, permits, approvals and authorizations from any Governmental Authority, or any notice
to any Governmental Authority, that are required by Applicable Law, including any regulatory framework to which Client or any Service Recipient is
required to submit or voluntarily submits from time to time, for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, municipal, local, territorial or other governmental department, regulatory authority, judicial
or administrative body, whether domestic, foreign or international with jurisdiction over the Parties.

“Implementation Plan” means the initial, non-binding implementation plan providing a high-level overview of the transition of the Services to
R1.

“Improvement Fee” has the meaning given in Exhibit 11.1-B.

“In-Scope Specialty Field” means the women’s and children’s specialty field.




“Intellectual Property” means the Client Intellectual Property or the R1 Intellectual Property, as the context requires.

“Intellectual Property Rights” means any and all intellectual property rights anywhere in the world, including (a) patents and patent applications;
(b) trademarks, service marks, and all registrations and applications for registration thereof; (c) copyrights and all registrations and applications for
registration thereof; (d) trade secrets, know-how and confidential information; (e) internet domain name registrations; (f) all inventions (whether patentable
or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice), and all improvements thereto; and (g) all copies and tangible embodiments of the foregoing (in
whatever form or medium).

“Material Adverse Effect” means any change, event or effect that, when taken individually or together with all other related adverse changes,
events or effects, has had or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, properties, assets, results of operations or
condition, financially or otherwise, taken as a whole, of a Party; provided, however, that a “Material Adverse Effect” shall not include any change or effect:
(a) in general economic or business conditions; (b) in financial, banking or securities markets of the U.S. in general (including any disruption thereof and
any decline in the price of any security or any market index); (c) in national or international political or social conditions, including the engagement by the
U.S. in hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack upon the
U.S. or any of its territories, possessions or diplomatic or consular offices or upon any military installation, equipment or personnel of the U.S.;
(d) affecting generally the industries or markets in which such Party operates; (e) related solely to the announcement or consummation of the matters
contemplated by this Services Agreement; (f) resulting from the identity or business plans of such Party or any of its Affiliates; (g) resulting from any act
taken by such Party in accordance with this Services Agreement; (h) resulting from changes in Applicable Law; or (i) resulting from changes in
reimbursement rates, including but not limited to changes in any reimbursement policies or fee schedules by Federal Health Care Programs.

“Phase 1 Services” has the meaning given in Exhibit 3.1.

“Phase 2 Services” means front end services for office-based Service Recipients, as further described in Exhibit 3.1.

“R1 Competitor” means [***].

“R1 Consents” means all licenses, consents, permits, approvals and authorizations that are necessary to allow (a) R1 and R1 Contractors to use
the R1 Technology, R1 Intellectual Property Software and any assets owned or leased by R1, and (b) R1 and R1 Contractors to (i) use any third-party

services retained by R1 to provide the Services during the Term, (ii) grant the licenses contemplated by Article VI and Article XIII and (iii) assign to Client
the Client Deliverables.

“R1 Contractors” means a third party engaged by R1 to perform a portion of the Services on R1’s behalf, excluding any third-party vendors who
indirectly support the Services or who provide general operational, administrative, technical or similar services for R1’s business, even though they may
support R1’s provision of the Services.

“R1 Technology” means the proprietary software applications, including source code, APIs (application programming interfaces), automated
functionality, portals, design, data structures, services, objects and any documentation, reports or other materials or business methods used by R1 in
providing the Services.

“Service Recipient” means all clinicians or clinician groups who are (a) owned or employed by Client or its Affiliate, or (b) receiving revenue
cycle services from Client or its Affiliate pursuant to contractual agreements between such groups and Client or its Affiliate (e.g., under a management
services agreement). Unless otherwise set forth herein or otherwise derived from context, Service Recipient shall mean only those clinicians and clinician
groups receiving Services hereunder.

“Service Recipient Entity” means [***].



“Similar Services” means [***].
“Transitioned Employees” has the meaning given in Exhibit 10.1.

IISTRUCTURE AND APPROACH

2 Services Agreement. The body of this Services Agreement and all exhibits, schedules, appendices, annexes, and/or other attachments
attached hereto and referenced herein (collectively, this “Agreement” or “Services Agreement”) set forth terms and conditions pursuant to which R1 will
render the Services to the Service Recipients in the In-Scope Specialty Field. Without limiting the above, this Services Agreement includes each of the
following, all of which are incorporated into this Services Agreement by this reference:

Exhibit 3.1 Services

Exhibit 3.4 R1 Contractors

Exhibit 3.5 Service Levels

Exhibit 3.15 In-Flight Projects

Exhibit 4.1 Initial Implementation Timeline
Exhibit 10.1 Designated Employee Terms
Exhibit 10.2 Key Personnel

Exhibit 11.1 Charges for Services

Exhibit 11.1-A Base Fee

Exhibit 11.1-B Improvement Fees for Services
Exhibit 12.1 In-Scope Agreements

Exhibit 14.1 Information Security Requirements
Exhibit 22.1 Disaster Recovery Requirements

3 References to Contract Documents. References to any Exhibit or Section to this Services Agreement shall include all documents
subsidiary to such Exhibit or Section (e.g., Section 11.1 includes Exhibit 11.1-A and 11.1-B, etc.).

IIISERVICES AND SERVICE RECIPIENTS

4 Services. The Parties hereby agree that, in cooperation with Client and subject to the remainder of this Section 3.1, R1 will provide the
services, functions, processes, and responsibilities described or identified in Exhibit 3.1, as may be amended, supplemented, enhanced, modified or
replaced in accordance with this Services Agreement (the “Services”). R1 shall provide the Services to the Service Recipients in the In-Scope Specialty
Field. As of the Commencement Date, R1 will provide to the Service Recipients all Services listed and identified as “Phase 1” in Exhibit 3.1 (“Phase 1
Services”). The “Phase 2 Services” are described and designated in Exhibit 3.1 as Phase 2 Services. Client may elect to commence Phase 2 Services during
the Term by providing R1 with at least [***] written notice prior to the date on which Client seeks Phase 2 Services to begin (the “Phase 2 Commencement
Date”); provided, however, that: (a) the Phase 2 Commencement Date must be between, and inclusive of, [***]; and (b) once designated by Client, any
delay or other modification of the Phase 2 Commencement Date shall be subject to mutual agreement of the Parties. The Phase 2 Services will be
considered part of the Services for the purposes of this Services Agreement beginning on the Phase 2 Commencement Date, subject to amendment of the
Services Agreement pursuant to Section 23.11 to add and modify terms and conditions relevant to the performance and receipt of the Phase 2 Services. For
clarity, until the Phase 2 Commencement Date (if any), the term “Services” shall be deemed to exclude any Phase 2 Services.

.5 Commencement Date. R1 shall provide (a) the Phase 1 Services beginning upon the Effective Date (the “Commencement Date”), and
(b) the Phase 2 Services beginning upon the Phase 2 Commencement Date, with both Phase 1 Services and Phase 2 Services ending on the expiration or
earlier termination of the Term, subject to the provision of any Termination Assistance under Section 20.10.

.6 Appointment. Client hereby appoints R1 as the exclusive provider of the Services and services of the type, nature and substance
contemplated by the Services for all Service Recipients that are within the In-Scope



Specialty Field, including any new or acquired Potential Recipients in accordance with Section 3.6 and Article V, but subject to any exceptions or
clarifications set forth in this Services Agreement, and R1 accepts such appointment and agrees to provide the Services on the terms and under the
conditions stated herein. R1 acknowledges that Client or the Service Recipients either themselves perform, or have engaged other vendors to provide, other
portions of the overall revenue cycle management process (e.g., coding, self-pay collections), and that R1’s exclusivity is limited to solely the in-scope
Services. As of the Commencement Date, the following recently-acquired entities are excluded from the exclusivity provision in this Section 3.3 solely for
the specified durations: [***].

7 Competent Performance of Services; Subcontractors. R1 shall perform the Services, including through its applicable Affiliates and R1
Contractors, in a professional and workmanlike manner by competent personnel having appropriate knowledge, experience and skill and in accordance
with all Applicable Laws, rules and regulations, as more fully set forth in Article XVI; provided, however, that R1 shall be responsible for the performance
of the Services in accordance with this Services Agreement even if such Services are actually performed or dependent upon services performed by
Affiliates of R1 or R1 Contractors. R1 shall be permitted to subcontract or delegate the performance of the Services to (a) its Affiliates, (b) R1 Contractors
set forth in Exhibit 3.4 and subject to certain conditions unique to certain R1 Contractors as set forth on Exhibit 3.4, and (c) upon prior written notice to
Client, any other third party, subject to the requirements of this Section 3.4.

.8 Service Levels and Other Performance Standards. R1 shall perform the Services so as to meet or exceed the performance standards
designated as the “Service Levels” set forth in Exhibit 3.5. If R1 fails to provide the Services in accordance with any of one or more Service Levels,
without limiting Client’s other remedies, R1 will incur the Service Level credits (“Service Level Credits”) as identified in Exhibit 3.5; provided, however,
that any such failure shall not, by itself, be deemed a breach of this Agreement for purposes of Section 20.3. Service Level Credits will be calculated in
accordance with the procedure set forth in Exhibit 3.5.

(@ On a continuous basis, subject in all respects to R1’s reasonable judgment, R1 shall also: (i) identify ways to
improve the Service Levels; and (ii) identify and apply techniques and tools from other installations within its operations that would benefit Client either
operationally or financially. Any changes to the Service Levels are subject to Client’s prior written approval.

(b) R1 shall perform all Services without expressly defined Service Levels in a timely and efficient manner, using
standard methodology and tools, and with at least the same degree of accuracy, high quality, completeness, timeliness, responsiveness and efficiency as the
higher of: (i) the level provided prior to the Commencement Date by or for the Service Recipients; and (ii) levels provided by comparable vendors of
Similar Services to customers similar in size and scope as Client.

(o) R1 shall provide Client with [***] reports on R1’s compliance with the Service Levels. R1 shall implement
measurement and monitoring tools and procedures to measure R1’s performance of the Services and report on such performance at a level of detail that is
sufficient to verify compliance with the Service Levels.

(d) If R1 anticipates that it may fail to meet a Service Level, R1 shall promptly inform Client of the anticipated failure
and, at reasonable time intervals determined by Client, update Client thereafter on its efforts to avoid the anticipated failure. If R1 fails to provide the
Services in a manner that meets or exceeds any Service Level, R1 shall: (i) promptly perform a root-cause analysis and identify the problems causing the
failure; (ii) report to Client on the nature and scope of the problems identified; (iii) correct the problems as soon as practicable and resume meeting the
Service Levels; (iv) advise Client of the progress of correction efforts at reasonable stages determined by Client; and (v) demonstrate to Client that all
reasonable action has been taken to prevent a recurrence of the Service Level default.

9 Covered Service Recipients. R1 shall be obligated to provide the Services to only those Service Recipients within the In-Scope
Specialty Field, and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, only the Service Recipients within the In-Scope Specialty Field actually receiving
Services from R1 shall have any of the rights conferred upon Service Recipients pursuant to this Services Agreement. If Client adds new Service
Recipients in the In-Scope Specialty Field to receive Services hereunder, including in connection with Section 5.1, such addition is subject to R1’s right to
(a) equitably adjust the Charges pursuant to the terms of Section 11.1, (b) prepare an implementation and transition plan with respect to any additional
Service Recipients, and (c) set a date for the



commencement of Services with respect to such additional Service Recipients that will allow R1 to have a reasonable amount of time for the
implementation and transition of Services for any such additional Service Recipient. This Section 3.6 is subject to the Acquisition and Divestiture process
set forth in Article V below. On or prior to the Finalization Date (as defined in Exhibit 11.1-A), the Parties shall amend this Agreement by attaching an
Exhibit 3.6 that will set forth (x) the Baseline Cash figure, and (y) the Fixed Individual Base Year Cash for all Service Recipient Entities existing as of the
Finalization Date.

.10 New Services. Without limiting the amendment process set forth in Section 23.11 below, the Parties agree that this Services Agreement
may be amended to add, remove or change Services, as set forth in this Section 3.7 and by executing a work order (“Work Order”) (a “Service Change”).
For purposes of clarity, (a) each such Work Order shall not be effective unless signed in writing by each Party and shall only take place on the effective date
set forth in such order, and (b) the addition of Phase 2 Services shall not be considered a Service Change for purposes of this Section 3.7, and no Work
Order will be required to add the Phase 2 Services, which may be added to the Services pursuant to Section 3.1. The Party proposing a Service Change will
provide the other Party with a written proposal, describing the proposed change, the anticipated effect that change will have on this Services Agreement,
any applicable Work Order, Exhibits and/or the Services, and the rationale for such change. The Parties acknowledge that any addition to, removal of, or
changes to the Services may result in additional, decreased, or modified fees (except as set forth in the following sentence) which shall be set forth with
specificity in each Work Order or via an amendment within the Work Order to the fee exhibits attached to this Services Agreement. If R1 proposes that a
change to the Services will result in increased fees, R1 must first show evidence of its increased costs based on the proposed change, and R1 has no
obligation to perform, and Client has no obligation to pay for, any additional or modified Services absent written agreement by the Parties with respect
thereto.

A1 Authority. Client hereby represents and warrants during the Term that it (a) has and will have the authority to contract with R1 for the
provision of Services to the Service Recipients, (b) has and will have the authority to, and will enforce, the exclusivity described in Section 3.3, and (c)
with respect to this Services Agreement and solely as between R1 and Client, will be responsible for all acts and omissions of all Service Recipients.

A2 Service Locations. The Services may be performed by R1 personnel from [***]. During the Term, R1 will provide Client with a list of
all then-current location addresses from which Services are performed (excluding private residences) and the type of Service(s) performed within such
country, and R1 will update this list as necessary to reflect changes in its Service delivery approach.

13 Scope of Services. In addition to the services, functions, responsibilities and tasks expressly described in the scope of Services in
Section 3.1, the (a) services, functions, responsibilities and tasks that were performed by the Designated Employees in support of performing Similar
Services on a consistent or routine basis during the [***] preceding the Effective Date, and (b) services, functions, responsibilities and tasks that are
reasonably required for, or inherent in, the proper performance and provision of the expressly described Services are all deemed to be included in such
Services as if expressly described.

14 Responsibility for Resources. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, R1 is responsible for providing the facilities,
personnel, equipment, software, technical knowledge, expertise and other resources R1 deems necessary to provide the Services.

15 Reports. R1 shall provide to Client online access, including “drill to detail” capability, to its various analytics products, R1 Analytics
and R1 Gateway (“Analytics Tools”). The Analytics Tools will contain, at a minimum, standard operating reports and metrics needed to efficiently perform
the Services and give Client visibility into the current performance. Additionally, R1 will customize dashboards for Client in its Analytics Tools which
minimally provide similar or better visibility on performance as do Client’s current RCM reports, data, dashboards, metrics (collectively, “RCM Operating
Reports”). RCM Operating Reports will be available in an exportable and printable format, and R1 will distribute them to Client on a monthly basis. If such
RCM Operating Reports cannot be reasonably converted to an online dashboard or in R1’s Analytics Tools, then R1 shall provide such visibility via manual
reporting. [***]. For each report, on Client’s reasonable request, R1 will provide Client with the following: (a) raw data captured or generated from various
systems, data feeds and other data sources from which R1 generates the reports (e.g., manually generated record information) (collectively, the “Raw
Data”); and (b) Raw Data that R1



has altered, manipulated or refined to generate reports, provide certain data views or otherwise meet its obligations under this Agreement.

.16 Notice of Adverse Impact. If R1 becomes aware of (a) any situation that has negatively impacted (or reasonably could negatively
impact) the maintenance of Client’s internal controls or compliance with Applicable Laws or Client’s physical security, information security or other
policies or procedures described in this Agreement; (b) any situation that has had or reasonably could have any other material adverse impact on the
Services (including a potential forthcoming Force Majeure Event, any delay in delivery or performance, change in Control or change in legal form of R1,
or infringement of third-party rights); or (c) any other act, omission or development which would be important for Client to be aware of in order to take
precautions to prevent an adverse effect to its businesses or reputation, then R1 shall promptly inform Client of the situation. R1’s written notice to Client
shall, as appropriate or applicable, inform Client of the impact or expected impact and, if reasonably requested by either Party, R1 and Client shall meet to
formulate and implement an action plan to minimize or eliminate the impact of such situation.

17 Cooperation with Third Parties. The performance of Services may involve work with other third-party service providers, companies,
consultants, advisors and contractors of Client or Service Recipients. R1 shall perform the Services in accordance with reasonable guidance provided by
Client and shall work diligently with such third parties for the purposes of the fulfillment of the Services. For the avoidance of doubt, such companies,
consultants, advisors or contractors of Client are not authorized to bind Client in any way or enter into any commitments on behalf of Client. R1 shall treat
Confidential Information received from such third-party service providers, companies, consultants, advisors and contractors in connection with the
provision of Services as Client’s Confidential Information subject to the terms of this Agreement.

.18 [***].
IVIMPLEMENTATION OF SERVICES

.19 Implementation. R1 will implement transition services as needed for the successful transition to the Services and the R1 shared service
centers and for the transition of the Designated Employees to R1, and R1 will endeavor to do so in accordance with a non-binding (a) Implementation Plan
that R1 will provide Client on or around the Commencement Date, and (b) preliminary timeline attached as Exhibit 4.1. The initial Implementation Plan
describes R1’s proposed implementation of Phase 1 Services. After the Effective Date, the Parties may mutually agree on adjustments to the
Implementation Plan with the understanding that the Implementation Plan remains a non-binding set of principles and timelines formulated in good faith,
and any failure by a Party to perform any part thereof shall not be construed to be a breach of this Agreement. The R1 Executive Sponsor and the Client
Executive Sponsor will each have responsibility for managing his or her Party’s personnel and obligations in implementing a successful transition to the
Services, including employee transition issues, communication issues, technology transition issues, data and security requirements, third-party consents
which are required in connection with the commencement of Services consistent with the Exhibits to this Services Agreement, and to the extent any
Exhibits are not completed as of the Effective Date the finalization of such Exhibits. Each Party shall provide any data and information reasonably
necessary for the successful completion of the transition.

.20 Communication Plan. The Parties agree and understand that the appropriate communication of this transition to the Services is critical to
the success of the initiatives outlined in this Services Agreement, and therefore will mutually develop and agree to a communication plan. The Parties will
mutually coordinate any communications in accordance with the communication plan in advance of the formal transition announcement and the Parties will
share copies of any proposed communications and agree to the form and substance thereof in advance of any official release. For clarity, each Party has the
final approval authority on the internal communication plan and proposed internal communications for their respective organizations.

21 Alignment with Personnel Transition. The initial Services to be provided starting as of the Commencement Date must be aligned with
the Client personnel transition process in Section 10.1 and Exhibit 10.1.



VACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES
22 Acquisitions; New Potential Recipients.

(e) Subject to Applicable Law, Client shall promptly notify R1 if Client or any Client Affiliate contracts to acquire
(whether by purchase of stock or assets, merger, operation of law, or otherwise), creates, or otherwise assumes Control over, or enters into a management
services agreement including the provision of revenue cycle services with (collectively, “Acquires” including all corollary forms thereof), any new clinical
group, practice group or other health care provider entity operating within an In-Scope Specialty Field (each a “Potential Recipient”); provided, however,
that Client is only obligated to have R1 perform the Services for a Potential Recipient (i) if the Potential Recipient operates within an In-Scope Specialty
Field, (ii) if Client declines to provide Similar Services directly to the Potential Recipient (i.e., either by itself or through its Affiliate but not through any
third party), and (iii) once the Potential Recipient’s existing contract, if any, with a third-party vendor of Similar Services has expired or terminated as
provided in Section 5.1(c). Client may elect to provide information about the Potential Recipient that is redacted or masked to keep the identity of the
Potential Recipient anonymous. [***]. R1 will keep information about the event resulting in such new Potential Recipient strictly confidential, and limit the
internal disclosure of that information to only those who strictly need to know, until the information becomes publicly known. Exhibit 11.1-A shall address
the circumstances under which the addition of any Potential Recipient as a Service Recipient to receive Services hereunder may result in a change in the
Charges.

® If Client, or a Client Affiliate, if applicable, Acquires a Potential Recipient that is performing for itself (or has an
Affiliate perform for it), or does not then-currently perform or contract for, Similar Services, [***], then as soon as reasonably practicable in Client’s
reasonable judgment after such acquisition (or other transaction) is closed (but by no later than the date that is [***] months after the closing of the
transaction through which the applicable acquisition or assumption of Control occurs), Client, or if applicable a Client Affiliate, shall cause the Potential
Recipient to transition such Similar Services to R1 consistent with the agreed parameters for adding Potential Recipients as provided in and subject to
Section 3.6 and Exhibit 11.1-A. Upon transition of the Potential Recipient, R1 will provide the Services to such Potential Recipient on the terms and
conditions stated herein.

(h) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, R1 shall not be obligated to provide, and Client shall not be
obligated to have R1 provide, the Services to any Potential Recipient that is not operating within the In-Scope Specialty Field unless the Parties mutually
agree to do so and enter into an amendment to this Services Agreement addressing any necessary changes to the terms hereof.

23 Divestitures. Client shall provide prompt notice to R1 of any sale or divestiture (to an unaffiliated third party) (whether by sale of stock
or assets, merger, operation of law, or otherwise) or other loss of Control or termination (either termination of the applicable management services
agreement) (collectively, a “Divestiture” including all corollary forms thereof) of a Service Recipient Entity that is then-currently receiving the Services
(upon any such sale, divestiture, loss of Control, or termination, the “Divested SRE”). If Client or a Client Affiliate Divests a Divested SRE that is then-
currently receiving Services, Client shall provide R1 with no less than sixty (60) days’ notice prior to the closing of such sale, divestiture, or other
triggering event (or such shorter period, including after the closing or triggering event, as may be required by Applicable Law) (the “Required Divestiture
Election Notice Period”); provided, that Client shall provide notice to R1 in accordance with Section 5.2(a) below for any sale, divestiture, or other
triggering event for which Client elects to cease the provisions of Services. R1 will keep information about the foregoing strictly confidential and limit the
internal disclosure of that information to only those who strictly need to know, until the information becomes publicly known.

(i) Divestiture Options. The notification (the “Divestiture Election Notice”) shall set forth [***].



.24 Divestiture to an Affiliate. If Client sells or divests any Service Recipient to an Affiliate of Client, (i) Client shall provide R1 with
prompt written notice of such sale or divestiture, and (ii) such Client Affiliate shall continue receiving Services from R1 for such Divested SRE after the
closing of such sale or divestiture for the remainder of the Term and Client shall ensure that the terms and conditions of this Services Agreement continue
to apply thereto.

.25 Divestiture of all Service Recipient Entities. If all of the then-current Service Recipient Entities are sold or divested by Client to an
unaffiliated third party, then this Services Agreement will terminate unless Client assigns this Services Agreement to the purchaser of the Service Recipient
Entities in accordance with Section 23.6. [***].

VITECHNOLOGY

.26 R1 Technology. In connection with the implementation of its revenue cycle operating model, and in a collaborative fashion with Client
and consistent with the Implementation Plan, R1 will deploy its management staff and subject matter experts and implement the R1 Technology and R1
operating methodology with agreed Service Recipients, and train the Service Recipients at no charge on those items in connection with their receipt of
Services. R1 acknowledges that R1 will be required to use certain Retained Systems (as of the Effective Date) in tandem with R1 Technology to deliver
Services to certain Service Recipients. R1 may update the R1 Technology [***]. R1 will also make reasonable efforts to ensure that updates of R1
Technology remain compatible with Retained Systems.

.27 Software and Services License. As part of the Services under this Services Agreement, R1 will provide and hereby grants to Client and
the Service Recipients, during the Term, a non-exclusive, non-transferable (except as provided under Section 23.6), non-sublicensable license to access and
use the R1 Technology, and any other R1 software, R1 Intellectual Property, processes, methodologies, works of authorship and technology which are made
available to Client or Service Recipients in connection with the Services (collectively, the “R1 Solution), by and through the Client Users solely for
Client’s and the Service Recipients’ internal business activities and purposes relating to its revenue cycle operations or any other activity or purpose
ancillary to those revenue cycle operations (the “Software and Services License”). A “Client User” means each Service Recipient’s employees and each
Service Recipient’s Consultants designated by the Service Recipient to use the R1 Technology; provided, however, that with respect to Service Recipient’s
Consultants this is subject to Section 9.1(d). The Software and Services License will continue after termination of this Services Agreement until the end of
the Termination Assistance, after which it will terminate, and Client will cease all use of the R1 Solution.

.28 Access Credentials. R1 will permit access to the R1 Technology software [***] solely through the use of Access Credentials assigned to
the Client Users. “Access Credentials” means any unique user identification and password combination or other security code, method, or device used to
verify a Client User’s identity and authorization to access and use the R1 Technology Access Credentials will be deemed Confidential Information of both
Parties. R1 may review, monitor, and record Client’s use of R1 Technology to the extent permitted by law.

.29 Authorization Limitations and Restrictions. Client shall not, and shall not permit any other person or entity to, access or use the R1
Technology, except as expressly permitted by this Services Agreement. For clarity, Client shall not:

(n) copy, modify or create derivative works or improvements of the R1 Technology or any part thereof;

(0) sell, sublicense, assign, distribute, publish, transfer, or otherwise make available the R1 Technology to any third
party;



(p) reverse engineer, disassemble, decompile, decode, adapt, or otherwise attempt to discern or gain access to the source
code of the R1 Technology; or

(@ input, upload, transmit or otherwise provide any unlawful or injurious information or materials to the R1
Technology, including any virus, worm, malware, or other malicious computer code.

.30 Protection of Access Credentials. Each Party will promptly notify the other Party of any actual or suspected misuse or security breach
involving any Access Credentials.

31 Changes to the R1 Technology. Subject to the requirements in Section 6.1, R1 reserves the right to make any changes to the R1
Technology or specifications that it deems necessary or useful; provided, however, that any such changes do not materially degrade the function or
performance of the R1 Technology or the Services, or the usefulness of the foregoing to Client or any Service Recipient. In providing the Services, R1 will
endeavor to continually improve its technology and processes to allow Client to take advantage of technological and process advances related to the
Services.

.32 Suspension or Termination of Access. R1 may suspend or otherwise deny Client or any Client User access to or use of all or any part of
the R1 Technology, without any resulting obligation or liability, if a suspension is necessary to mitigate or otherwise prevent Client’s or a Client User’s
ongoing violation of Applicable Law or, in R1’s reasonable discretion, an imminent security threat to the R1 Technology. R1 will, to the extent reasonably
practicable, tailor the scope of the suspension to only those Client Users who are causing, or directly impacted by, the issue giving rise to the permitted
suspension. This Section 6.7 does not limit any of R1’s other rights or remedies, whether at law or in equity.

.33 Client IT Obligations.

(r) In providing the Services, R1 shall not, without the prior written consent of Client, undertake any actions with the
knowledge that such actions are reasonably likely to adversely affect (a) the operation, functionality or technical environment of the software and hardware
used by or on behalf of Client in connection with their businesses (“Retained Systems™) or (b) the processes used by Client in connection with their
businesses. The Parties will work together to reasonably resolve any inadvertent adverse effects described in clause (a) or (b) above.

(s) Client will work with R1 and keep R1 informed of any anticipated changes to Retained Systems to the extent that
those changes may impact the Services. The Parties will work together to reasonably resolve any impact by such changes on the Services, including any
changes that result or could reasonably be expected to result in a material decrease in functionality, efficiency, quality or other significant negative effect as
compared to the Retained Systems existing as of the Effective Date, or reasonably would require R1 to take efforts to interface with the new or modified
Retained Systems outside of ordinary course upgrades and configurations. Client agrees to work with R1 and keep R1 informed of any planned
replacement dates and schedules for Retained Systems.

()] Client shall work together with R1 with respect to such Retained Systems in order to ensure the continuity of the
Services during the Term, including consultation with R1 and consideration of any input from R1 in connection with any such changes on an ongoing basis
as provided in Article VIII. Client will use commercially reasonable efforts to notify R1 at least three (3) months in advance of any Service-impacting
material changes to Retained Systems in writing (which, for the avoidance of doubt, may be given by email communication and shall not require formal
notice under Section 23.8).

34 System Integration. Client understands (a) that implementation of certain R1 Technology with respect to Retained Systems is subject to
the Retained Systems meeting certain minimum requirements and compliances, such as general infrastructure and data hosting capacity, HIPAA compliant
security solutions, supported bi-directional data exchanges, and industry-standard systems solutions, which requirements may vary depending on the scope
of Services being provided and the condition and configuration of the Retained Systems, and (b) that the benefit or feasibility of any R1 Technology
implementation may be limited or otherwise restricted based on the condition or state of the Retained Systems. [***]. Any dispute regarding the
enforcement of this Section 6.9 shall be resolved through the Joint Review Board, who may also, in addition to resolving any such disputes, make equitable



adjustments to the scope of R1’s Services or the economic parameters of this Services Agreement if Client declines to, or is otherwise unable to, effect the
upgrades stated above.

VIICLIENT OBLIGATIONS
.35 Client Operational Responsibilities.
(v Client shall perform those operational responsibilities set forth in this Article VII and the other operational
responsibilities expressly set forth in this Agreement.
W) Each member of the R1 staff (including employees and R1 Contractors) is expected to promptly escalate an issue if

that individual’s performance is impacted by the failure of Client to perform a Client Operational Responsibility. Notwithstanding any failure or delay by
Client in fulfilling its Client Operational Responsibilities, R1 shall use proactive, good faith efforts at all times to maximize the possibility that Services
will nonetheless be performed in a timely manner.

.36 Assets to be Made Available to R1. During the implementation phase of Phase 1 Services, Client will make available to R1 those
tangible assets (e.g., office equipment, but not software) that were being used by or on behalf of Client to provide the Services and the Similar Services
prior to the Commencement Date, so that such assets are readily available for use by R1 and R1 Contractors in the delivery of the Services or otherwise
performing their obligations under the Services Agreement, whether R1 and R1 Contractors are performing Services in Authorized Space or working
remotely. [***]. Without limiting any of the foregoing, Client shall not remove any such assets from the Authorized Space during the Phase 1 Services
implementation period. While such assets are being provided hereunder, Client will not materially increase or decrease the availability of any such tangible
assets except in connection with a corresponding increase or decrease in relevant R1 personnel, in which case such increase or decrease shall be discussed
by the Parties in good faith and agreed to by the Parties in writing. Client will be responsible for securing all Client Consents, if any, required in order for
R1 to access and use these Client tangible assets as may be reasonably required by R1 in connection with the delivery of the Services, including for the
deployment and utilization of R1 Technology. During the Phase 1 implementation period, Client will be responsible for the maintenance, repair, and
replacement of these tangible assets, in their normal/customary cycle.

.37 Occupation of Client Space. Client hereby grants to R1 the right to occupy those areas within Client’s facilities that were being used by
or on behalf of Client to provide the Services and the Similar Services when such Services and Similar Services were being performed within Client’s
facilities (“In-Facility Setting™) prior to the Commencement Date or as otherwise may be necessary for performing obligations under this Services
Agreement (“Authorized Space”). Use by R1 of the Authorized Space does not constitute a leasehold interest in favor of R1. Authorized Space includes the
areas where designated R1 personnel need to be located for purposes of the Services, initially inclusive of: [***]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon
notice by Client to R1 that R1 personnel or R1 Contractors are required to work in an In-Facility Setting, Client shall permit R1 to occupy any Authorized
Space in the applicable location. The “move in” times for R1 personnel will be on a mutually agreeable and reasonable schedule and will not interrupt other
operations of those facilities. Without limiting any of the foregoing, Client agrees to make existing phone and data access lines at the Authorized Space (or
replacement or substitute lines) available to R1 personnel at the Authorized Space as required by R1 personnel for their use in delivering the Services
throughout the Term. The Authorized Space, the other assets provided by Client, and such lines will be used by R1 solely and exclusively to perform
Services under this Services Agreement. Client agrees to provide necessary utilities and maintenance services for these areas in the Authorized Space.
Adjustments (including substitutions) of these areas may be made from time to time at Client’s reasonable request and mutually agreed to in writing by
Client and R1.

.38 Access to Areas. During the Term, subject to Section 7.3, Client shall grant R1 personnel reasonable and mutually agreed upon access
to the Authorized Space. Client shall provide all necessary keys and access cards to R1 employees to assure them of this access. R1 and its personnel shall
honor all Client policies, guidelines, and requests regarding the use of or access to these areas or facilities and restrictions regarding access to those portions
of the facilities which are not Authorized Space occupied by R1. Such policies, requests, guidelines, and restrictions will be provided to R1.



.39 Client to Supply Data, Information, and Access to Computer System and Network. Client shall be responsible for supplying R1 with:
(a) all data and information of Client reasonably required by R1 to perform the Services and measure the benefit of the Services in accordance with the
terms of this Services Agreement; (b) all patient authorizations and other consents required to provide R1 with access to patient records or to enable R1 to
communicate with third-party payors, on Client’s behalf; (c) all access to Client’s computer systems and network reasonably required by R1 to provide the
R1 Technology to Client or to perform and measure the Services, including any additional remote access licenses and related equipment; and (d) the
maintenance and support of those computer systems located at the Authorized Space referred to in (c) that are used to maintain the data and information

and any agreements with third parties regarding the maintenance or support of those computer systems.

.40 Acknowledgement. Client understands and agrees that neither R1 nor any of its Affiliates provides any medical or clinical advice or
consultation as to patient care. R1 and its Affiliates will not provide financial or legal advice to Client. Client shall be responsible for all of its and its
Service Recipients’ legal, tax and accounting work.

A1 Professional Services. In connection with Service Recipients’ receipt of the Services, only the Service Recipients or the licensed
personnel who are members, employees or independent contractors of Client or any Service Recipient (collectively, the “Professionals”) will furnish those
health care services that are within the scope of practice for the Professionals and necessary or appropriate for their patients as well as prepare and finalize
related medical records and reports (collectively, “Medical Services”), all in accordance with Applicable Laws, payor contract requirements and Client’s
services contracts (the “Practice”).

w) The Service Recipients and their respective Professionals shall have the exclusive authority to control and
responsibility over all aspects of the provision of Medical Services. R1 and its Affiliates shall have not authority or responsibility regarding the provision of
supervision of Medical Services.

x) Professionals shall alone be responsible for the examination of the Service Recipients’ patients. Professionals, as the
persons providing medical services, shall be responsible for complying with their obligations under Applicable Law with regard to documentation of
medical records for the medical services provided.

42 Professional Standards. Each Service Recipient is responsible for ensuring that its respective Professionals are appropriately licensed to
practice medicine, or to provide any other applicable category of health care services, and participate in continuing education as necessary to maintain such
licensure, professional competence, and skills commensurate with the standards of the medical community and as otherwise required by the medical
profession. All Professionals will comply with their scope of licensure and payor rules with respect to eligibility and entitlement for payment.

43 Additional Obligations.

(%) Service Recipients will be required to provide records to R1 and assist R1 in obtaining insurance and patient
demographic information from each acute care facility at which the Service Recipient provides Medical Services. In the event that R1 is unable to obtain
this information from the acute care facility, the relevant Service Recipient shall be required to provide this information via electronic media. The parties
will revisit these obligations, among others, in connection with the Phase 2 Services.

(z) Professionals shall sign all necessary assignments and agreements that are required to allow R1 to (i) obtain required
provider numbers; and (ii) bill third-party payors including but not limited to, Medicare, Medicaid, managed care plans, Tricare, etc.

(ad) Service Recipients shall (i) cause each of its applicable Professionals to refrain from submitting false or inaccurate
information, documentation, or records to R1 and (ii) take prompt action to correct identified false or inaccurate information, documentation, or records in
accordance with Applicable Laws and payor contract requirements.



(bb) Client shall promptly notify R1 in the event it believes a coding, billing or claims submission error has been made to
enable R1 to correct any such errors and make any necessary refunds.

(co) Client shall respond in a timely manner to R1’s written requests for information regarding services, diagnoses or
other matters on any document relevant to billing received from Client or a Service Recipient.

(dd) Client will provide R1 with view only access to Client’s lockbox and any other payment mechanisms to aid in the
posting of payments to patient accounts.

(ee) If Client is participating in the CMS Quality Payment Program, Client is responsible for meeting all CMS
requirements, including, but not limited to, the selection of a quality data capture mechanism and quality clinical data registry. Additionally, Client is
responsible for ensuring the quality of its data and the payment of fees associated with data file merging prior to the submission of such data to CMS.
Client shall perform self-audit in conjunction with CMS guidelines.

44 Professional Fees. Professional fees shall be charged by Professionals in their Practice in accordance with all Applicable Laws,
regulations, and contractual arrangements, to the extent applicable. Client shall provide R1 with an approved fee schedule (i.e., charge master) using
current CPT codes and terminology.

45 Third-Party Software. Authorized use by R1 personnel of any third-party computer software installed on Client equipment to be used by
R1 must not breach any agreement with the third party or infringe any third-party intellectual property. During the assessment period following the
Commencement Date, the Parties will identify the third-party software licenses and agreements that are applicable to use of the software by R1 personnel.
The Parties will cooperate to obtain for R1 such rights as may be needed for use of the software in accordance with Section 13.4. This may be
accomplished through assignment of licenses, agreements, sublicenses, expansion of license scope to cover R1 personnel, and/or any other legitimate
means.

VIIIGOVERNANCE AND RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT

.46 Joint Review Board and Sponsors. In order to assure that the spirit of cooperation and mutual interest which have led to this Services
Agreement between the Parties continues, the Parties will establish a “Joint Review Board” that will be charged with responsibility for oversight of this
strategic relationship. The Joint Review Board will include two (2) representatives of each Party and will meet in person or virtually no less frequently than
quarterly. The Joint Review Board shall:

(fH) be responsible for general oversight, review of R1’s performance and management of the relationship between the
Parties under this Agreement;

(gg) approve the Final Cost-to-Collect, Improvement Fee Baselines and Upper Bounds, and any revisions to these values
should they be required over the Term in accordance with Exhibit 11.1;

(hh) work to resolve payment disputes arising between the Parties pursuant to Section 11.7;

(ii) serve as a critical step in the dispute resolution process set forth in Article XXT of this Agreement with respect to the
matters under its responsibilities;

G review any proposed material modifications to this Agreement that revise commercial terms prior to signature by
authorized representatives of each Party; and

(kk) perform such other functions as set forth in this Agreement or as the Parties may mutually agree in writing, except
where in conflict with any provision of this Agreement.

47 Executive Sponsors. Each Party shall designate an executive who shall be responsible for managing the relationship between the Parties
as it relates to the implementation and execution of the Services on an ongoing basis (each such person and such person’s successor, if applicable, an
“Executive Sponsor”). Subject to the Key




Personnel retention period in Section 10.2, the Parties may remove or replace their respective Executive Sponsor at any time upon written notice to the
other Party of such removal or replacement. The Executive Sponsors will review R1’s performance and review any other relationship issues in virtual or in
person meetings no less frequently than quarterly. The Executive Sponsors will also be responsible for operational diligence and reinforcing collaboration
at the Joint Review Board level and below.

.48 R1 Site Lead. In addition to the R1 Executive Sponsor, R1 shall designate an individual dedicated full-time to Client’s account to be
responsible for day-to-day oversight of R1’s responsibilities under this Services Agreement (the “R1 Site L.ead”). Any concerns Client has with respect to
the Services shall be initially referred to the R1 Site Lead.

IXCONFIDENTIALITY
49 Confidentiality.

(1] Confidential Information. In connection with this Services Agreement (or any of the other agreements identified in
Section 23.15) or its performance, including, as part of negotiations or due diligence conducted prior to the Effective Date, one Party (the “Receiving
Party”) may have or will learn, discover or have disclosed to it information from or about the other Party (the “Disclosing Party”) or its or its Affiliates’ (or
Service Recipients’, in the case of Client) business, finances, plans, operations, software, computer systems, know-how, data, products, technology,
processes, techniques, strategies or networks. All information identified by the Disclosing Party as proprietary or confidential, or that is of a nature that it
should reasonably be considered as proprietary or confidential (including, without limitation, Intellectual Property of a confidential nature such as a trade
secret), shall be “Confidential Information” and shall not be disclosed by the Receiving Party to any third party without the express written consent of the
Disclosing Party. The Parties agree that the terms of this Agreement and any Exhibits constitute Confidential Information. The Parties agree that Client’s
Confidential Information includes Client Data (but excluding PHI). The Parties also agree that the R1 Technology constitutes Confidential Information of
R1. Confidential Information does not include (i) anything that is known to the Receiving Party prior to the time of first disclosure thereof by the
Disclosing Party to the Receiving Party, as shown by Receiving Party’s records, (ii) anything that becomes publicly known or generally known in the
industry or profession of either Party through no fault of the Receiving Party or its personnel, (iii) anything that is lawfully disclosed by a third party (who
did not receive the information directly or indirectly from the Disclosing Party) to the Receiving Party on a non-confidential basis, or (iv) anything lawfully
created by or for the Receiving Party without reference to or use of any of the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information. The requirements for consent in
the second sentence of this Section 9.1(a) and for authorization in the first sentence of Section 9.1(b) do not apply to a disclosure by (A) R1 of Client’s
Confidential Information to an R1 Consultant as needed for the performance of Services; provided, however, that R1 complies with Section 16.2, nor
(B) Client of R1’s Confidential Information to Service Recipients.

(mm) Protection of Confidential Information. Each Party agrees that it will: (i) treat as confidential all Confidential
Information of the other Party, and (ii) not disclose or use the other Party’s Confidential Information except as expressly set forth herein or otherwise
authorized by the Disclosing Party in writing. These restrictions do not apply to any disclosure required by Applicable Law or government regulation or by
an order of a court or government agency; provided, however, that the Disclosing Party is provided with reasonable advance notice of such disclosure, to
the extent practicable (unless the Receiving Party is prohibited by law or by order of a court or government agency from giving such notice to the
Disclosing Party), and thereafter the Receiving Party cooperates with any reasonable request of the Disclosing Party (at the Disclosing Party’s expense) to
obtain a protective order or to otherwise protect the Confidential Information, including seeking confidential treatment of such information, in which case
the Receiving Party shall only disclose such Confidential Information that it is advised by its counsel in writing that it is legally bound to disclose under
such legal requirement.

(nn) Injunctive Relief. Failure on the part of Receiving Party to abide by this Section 9.1 will cause the Disclosing Party
irreparable harm for which damages, although available, will not be an adequate remedy at law. Accordingly, the Disclosing Party has the right to seek
preliminary and permanent injunctions to prevent any threatened or actual violations of this Section 9.1 in addition to all other available and applicable
remedies.



(00) Consultants. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 9.1 to the contrary, each Party may disclose the other Party’s
Confidential Information to its directors, advisors, consultants, vendors, service providers, licensors, and other contractors (including, with respect to R1,
its Affiliates and R1 Contractors) (“Consultants”) as reasonably needed in connection with the Services. However, in each such case, the following will

apply:

(@) the disclosure of Confidential Information will be limited to that which is reasonably needed for the
services or solution to be provided by such Consultant;

(ii) the Consultant must agree in writing to keep the Confidential Information confidential and to not use the
Confidential Information for any purpose other than as necessary in connection with the Services; provided, however, that if
the Client’s Consultant is an R1 Competitor, then Client shall obtain the prior written consent of R1 before disclosure of any
R1 Technology or R1 Intellectual Property, including screenshots of R1 Technology and proprietary workflow
documentation to such Consultant; and

(iii) each Party shall be responsible for their respective Consultants’ compliance with the confidentiality
obligations set forth in this Services Agreement.

(pp) Other Agreements. Confidential Information does not include Protected Health Information (PHI). The definition,
management and protection of PHI is specifically set forth in the BAA and nothing in this Section or elsewhere in this Services Agreement negates, limits
or affects the BAA (as defined in Section 15.1).

(qq) Return or Destruction of Confidential Information. Upon the later to occur of expiration or termination of this
Services Agreement or any Termination Assistance (or any Interim Service Period with respect to a divestiture pursuant to Section 5.2), for any reason
whatsoever, each Receiving Party shall ensure that it, its Affiliates and their respective authorized representatives shall not use or disclose to third parties
any Confidential Information of the other Party, and shall immediately return to the Disclosing Party or destroy, at the Disclosing Party’s option, all
Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party that is in written, electronic, or other form (including destroying all Confidential Information from any
computer, server or other device containing such Confidential Information) and confirming the same in writing within ninety (90) days following a request,
other than information archived in the ordinary course of business on electronic storage systems or media or as required by Applicable Law, which retained
information shall continue to be Confidential Information and subject to the other terms hereof.

.50 Privilege Issues. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties recognize that they may become joint defendants in proceedings to which
the information covered by the attorney-client or attorney work-product protections and privileges relates and they may share a common legal interest in
disclosure between them that is subject to such privileges and protections, and in such event, if reasonably requested by R1 or Client, the Parties shall
consider, in good faith and based on the relevant facts and circumstances, consider entering into a joint defense agreement with respect thereto. Neither R1
nor Client are not waiving, nor will either be deemed to have waived or diminished, any of its attorney work product protections, attorney-client privileges
or similar protections and privileges recognized under Applicable Law of any jurisdiction as a result of disclosing information pursuant to this Services
Agreement or the Services, or any of its Confidential Information (including Confidential Information related to pending or threatened litigation) to the
other Party, regardless of whether the applicable Party has asserted, or is or may be entitled to assert, such privileges and protections. In addition to the
foregoing, this Section 9.2 shall not apply to potential litigation or disputes between the Parties.

XPERSONNEL TRANSITION; BACKGROUND CHECKS

.51 Personnel Transition. The Parties agree to transition the Designated Employees as outlined in Exhibit 10.1, and certain terms applicable
to the Designated Employees and, once transitioned, Transitioned Employees are set forth in Exhibit 10.1, including Employment Effective Dates.

.52 Key Personnel. [***], R1 shall not replace or reassign Key Personnel for [***] after the applicable Effective Date. Unless otherwise
specified in Exhibit 10.2, the Key Personnel are full-time dedicated to Client’s



account during their assignment as Key Personnel. This does not apply to replacement of an individual who (a) voluntarily resigns from R1, (b) is
dismissed by R1, in its sole discretion, for cause (e.g., fraud, drug abuse, theft, substandard performance, or failure to perform duties and responsibilities),
or (c) dies or is unable to work because of a disability or a parental or sabbatical leave. Subject to the foregoing, Client may, upon notice to R1, require
removal of any Key Personnel. In such case, as soon as reasonably practicable, R1 shall remove and replace such person. R1 shall maintain backup
procedures and conduct the replacement procedures for the Key Personnel in such a manner that assures an orderly succession for any Key Personnel who
are replaced, and replacement of Key Personnel does not adversely affect the Service Recipients or the Services. “Key Personnel” means the positions
identified as Key Personnel positions in Exhibit 10.2.

.53 Services to Competitors. [***].

.54 Background Checks of R1 Personnel. R1 will ensure that any of its personnel (employees, R1 Contractors, and
subcontractors) providing Services to Client will have:

(1r) Passed a background check that will include employment and social security verification and criminal background,
as permitted by Applicable Law;

(ss) Been screened to ensure that such personnel are not otherwise excluded from providing Services to Client, including
through R1’s comprehensive pre-hire and required monthly screening of exclusion screening databases at state, federal and international levels (including,
but not limited to: Federal OIG, GSA SAM, OFAC Specially Designated Nationals List, Department of Commerce Denied Persons List, State Medicaid
Sanctions List, and State Licensing Lists); and

(tt) Completed all necessary training on Client policies and procedures (such training to be decided upon by the Parties
as part of the transition to the Services), provided, Client will provide such policies and procedures to R1.

XICHARGES AND INVOICES

.55 Charges for Services. The charges for the Services are set forth in Exhibit 11.1 and include Base Fee and Improvement Fee components
(collectively, the “Charges” or “Charges for Services™).

.56 Invoicing.
(uu) Invoicing Terms. Invoicing terms for Charges are set forth in Exhibit 11.1.
(vw) Credits. To the extent a credit (including a Service Level Credit) may be due to Client pursuant to this Services

Agreement, R1 shall provide Client with an appropriate credit against amounts then due and owing; if no further payments are due to R1, R1 shall pay such
amounts to Client within fifteen (15) days of the credit becoming due and payable.

(ww) Currency. Unless otherwise specified in Exhibit 11.1, Charges for all Services shall be invoiced and paid in United
States Dollars.

.57 Payment of Charges. In consideration of R1’s performance of the Services, Client shall pay R1 the applicable undisputed Charges as set
forth herein.

(xx) Base Fees.

@iv) R1 shall calculate the Three-Month Cash Collections (as defined in Exhibit 11.1-A) for the applicable
quarter within ten (10) days after the close of such quarter. Client shall make available to R1 reporting or access to Retained
Systems and networks as necessary for R1 to make the foregoing calculations. R1 shall make available to Client reporting or
access to R1 Technology and networks as necessary to verify R1’s calculations of the Three-Month Cash Collections.



W) R1 shall provide Client with a quarterly invoice for the Base Fee on or before the first day of each
quarter in which the Services applicable to Client are to be provided. Payment of the invoice will be in three (3) equal
monthly installments, with the first payment of each calendar quarter due [***] after receipt of such invoice [***] and shall
be made by wire transfer, or other mutually acceptable means.

(vy) Improvement Fees. R1 shall provide Client with invoices in the manner set forth in Exhibit 11.1-B, with undisputed
invoices amounts due in full within [***] days of Client’s receipt of an invoice.

.58 Failure to Pay Timely.

(zz) If any payment of Charges has not been received by R1 within thirty (30) days after becoming due in accordance
with Section 11.3, then, in addition to all other remedies that may be available, R1 may charge interest on the past due amount at a rate equal to the lesser
of: (i) [***] per month (which is an annual rate of [***]); and (ii) the highest rate permitted under Applicable Law.

(aaa) If any payment of Charges has not been received by R1 within [***] days after becoming due in accordance with the
payment terms in Section 11.3, then, in addition to all other remedies that may be available, R1 may suspend performance for all Services until payment

has been made in full.

.59 Incidental Expenses. R1 acknowledges that, [***].

.60 Proration. Charges under this Services Agreement shall be prorated for any partial year during the Term as more specifically set forth in
Exhibit 11.1.

.61 Payment Disputes. In the event of a good faith dispute between the Parties regarding the Improvement Fees payable by one Party (the
“Paying Party”) to the other Party (the “Other Party”) under this Services Agreement (including any of its Exhibits), the Paying Party shall notify the Other
Party of the dispute promptly in writing (a “Payment Dispute Notice”) and any payment dispute shall be reviewed by the R1 Executive Sponsor and the
Client Executive Sponsor who shall work, in good faith, to resolve the issue promptly following receipt of the Payment Dispute Notice. If such payment
dispute has not been resolved within [***] days of referral to the R1 Executive Sponsor and the Client Executive Sponsor, the Parties shall refer the dispute
to the Joint Review Board for resolution in accordance with Section 21.3.

(bbb) The Paying Party shall not withhold [***] the fees or other payments. Any fees or payments that are disputed, but
made, by the Paying Party (e.g., on a disputed invoice) shall be deemed to be made under protest with a reservation of rights by the Paying Party and
without prejudice to its position, claims or defenses. In no event may Client withhold any of the Base Fee as a payment dispute or otherwise (provided that,
notwithstanding the foregoing, Client may still at any time notify R1 if Client believes there has been an arithmetic error in connection with calculating any
portion of the Base Fee in accordance with Exhibit 11.1, at which point R1 shall review such alleged error and, if validated, refund or credit any
erroneously charged amounts).

(cco) Each Party agrees to continue performing its obligations under this Services Agreement, including payment of
Charges, while any dispute is being resolved unless and until such obligations are terminated by the termination or expiration of this Services Agreement
plus any extension attributable to Termination Assistance under Section 20.10.

(ddd) Upon resolution of a dispute, (i) if the Paying Party is found to owe any amount to the Other Party, it will promptly
pay to the Other Party all amounts it owes together with the interest accrued from the date the payment was originally due, or (ii) if the Other Party is found
to have incorrectly billed the Paying Party, it will promptly refund to the Paying Party all amounts incorrectly collected that it owes together with interest
accrued from the date the payment was incorrectly invoiced. Interest due on such disputed amounts shall accrue at the lower rate of 1% per month and the
maximum interest rate allowed by Applicable Law.



.62 Compliance with Laws. In the event that either Party’s legal counsel, upon consultation with the other Party’s legal counsel, reasonably
determines that the methods for determining the Charges payable to R1 by Client may violate any Applicable Law, the Parties shall, in good faith,
determine an alternative method for determining such Charges, subject to Client’s rights in Section 20.4.

XIITHIRD-PARTY AGREEMENTS

.63 In-Scope Agreements Managed by or Assigned to R1. R1 and Client desire to make the revenue cycle operations more efficient and cost
effective. As such, Client prepared and delivered to R1 for its review a list of all third-party agreements to which Client or its Affiliate is a party and
pursuant to which Similar Services are provided to Client or its Affiliate (the “Similar Services List”) prior to the Effective Date. R1 and Client have
agreed, as listed in Exhibit 12.1, on which third-party agreements from the Similar Services List will be managed by or assigned to R1 (each an “In-Scope
Agreement” and collectively the “In-Scope Agreements”). For each In-Scope Agreement, the Parties have identified in Exhibit 12.1 (i) whether (A) R1 will
manage the Similar Services under the In-Scope Agreement, (B) the In-Scope Agreement will be assigned to R1 (i.e., rights and obligations under the In-
Scope Agreement will be assigned to and assumed by R1), or (C) the agreement will not be managed or assigned to R1, but R1 will be provided access to
software, services, or equipment under the In-Scope Agreement, (ii) whether Client shall retain any responsibility for each In-Scope Agreement, and
(iii) which Party bears financial and operational responsibility for each In-Scope Agreement. For purposes of clarity, if R1 is assigned financial
responsibility for an In-Scope Agreement, R1 will be required to make all payments to the contracted third party under such In-Scope Agreement and the
Charges shall be deemed to include the provision of any software, equipment, services, or other matters set forth in such In-Scope Agreement. If updates to
Exhibit 12.1 are required following the Commencement Date, the Parties will discuss and agree on updates through the governance process.

.64 Costs of Consents. In the event that the assignment and assumption of rights and obligations (which may be referred to as an assignment
of the agreement) or transfer of management of any In-Scope Agreement to R1 results in any fees, expenses or other costs charged by the third-party
service provider as a direct consequence of such assignment, assumption, or transfer, [***], subject to Section 12.5(b); provided, however, that (a) Client is
administratively and operationally responsible for obtaining such Consents (including determining whether such consents are required), and (b) any legal
fees, consulting fees, and administrative costs and expenses that are incurred by Client but are not otherwise payable to the applicable third-party service
provider shall be borne by Client.

.65 No Obligation to Breach. Nothing herein will require that R1 manage, or be assigned rights under, an In-Scope Agreement if that would
constitute a breach of such agreement, unless Client obtains any required consent from the applicable third-party vendor. To the extent that any such
consent is not obtained, the Parties will cooperate in good faith as part of the transition to enter into arrangements reasonably acceptable to both Parties
under which R1 would obtain the benefit of such In-Scope Agreements in order to provide the Services to the same extent (or as nearly as practicable) as if
such consent were obtained, and each Party will continue to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any such required consent or amendment. The
Parties acknowledge that it may not be practical to try to anticipate and identify every possible legal or logistical impediment to the provision of Services
hereunder. Accordingly, each Party will promptly notify the other Party if it reasonably determines that there is any such impediment to the provision of
any Services, and the Parties shall each use commercially reasonable efforts to overcome such impediments so that the Services may be provided otherwise
in accordance with the terms of this Services Agreement.

.66 Warranty of No Material Breach of In-Scope Agreements. Client represents and warrants that as of the date that an In-Scope Agreement
is either assigned to R1 or R1 assumes management of the In-Scope Agreement: (a) Client is not in material breach of any such In-Scope Agreement; (b) to
Client’s knowledge, there are no facts giving rise to a claim of material breach by any party to any such In-Scope Agreement; (c) any breaches by Client
prior to such date have been fully resolved without any pending or current liabilities; (d) Client has not assigned, delegated or otherwise transferred to any
person any of its rights, title or interest under any such In-Scope Agreement; and (e) there is no pending or, to Client’s knowledge, threatened dispute with

respect to any such In-Scope Agreement.

.67 Rights to In-Source or Terminate.



(eee) If an In-Scope Agreement is managed by or assigned to R1, then R1 may, subject to providing Client with at least
forty-five (45) days’ written notice of its intent to terminate such agreement, terminate such agreement and make the Similar Services part of the Services
under this Services Agreement.

(fff) Without limiting R1’s rights in Section 12.5(a) above, Client agrees, promptly upon written request by R1, to
provide R1 with a written analysis of the termination fees, if any, for the applicable In-Scope Agreement to be terminated, together with a copy of such
contract and such other information reasonably required by R1 to verify such termination fees and the ability to terminate, subject to any confidentiality
obligations under the In-Scope Agreement. Subject to Client’s provision of such analysis and information, R1 shall be responsible for reimbursing Client
for any termination fees for the applicable In-Scope Agreement if R1 elects to terminate such agreement in accordance with the process in Section 12.5(a),
above.

XIININTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND OTHER MATTERS
.68 Intellectual Property.

(ggg) R1 or, as applicable, its agents, subcontractors, R1 Consultants, R1 Contractors (and their respective agents and
partners) and its delivery partners, shall have and retain all right, title and interest, including ownership of their respective copyrights, patents, trade secrets
and other Intellectual Property Rights, in and to methods, processes, techniques, strategies, materials, work papers, ideas, images, prototypes, software,
source and object code and related materials, including to the extent incorporated, embedded, or otherwise embodied in, the R1 Technology, that are owned
or developed by R1, its agents, subcontractors, R1 Consultants, R1 Contractors (and their respective agents and partners) and/or any delivery partners prior
to or during the Term, including (i) anything which R1, its agents, subcontractors, R1 Consultants, R1 Contractors (and their respective agents and
partners) and/or any delivery partners may discover, create, learn or develop during the provision of Services for Client, (ii) any modifications to, or
derivative works or enhancements of, materials owned or licensed by R1, its agents, subcontractors, R1 Consultants, R1 Contractors (and their respective
agents and partners) and/or any delivery partners, and (iii) any tools, utilities, prototypes, models, processes, methodologies and other such materials that
are developed, enhanced or improved during the Term by R1, its agents, subcontractors, R1 Consultants, R1 Contractors (and their respective agents and
partners) or any delivery partners, which relate to the performance of the Services, or any modification of the Services to be provided under this Services
Agreement (collectively, “R1 Intellectual Property”). However, if R1 develops any Intellectual Property, other work product, or deliverables specifically for
Client or a Service Recipient in provision of the Services and that item is specifically identified as a Client Deliverable in a Work Order (“Client
Deliverables”), then Client will own, and R1 hereby assigns all of its rights, title, and interest in and to, Client Deliverables. Client Deliverables do not
include R1 Intellectual Property, but if and to the extent R1 incorporates or embeds any R1 Intellectual Property in a Client Deliverable, R1 hereby grants
to Client a non-exclusive, perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, royalty-free, fully paid-up right and license to use, perform, display, distribute, access, execute
and otherwise fully exploit the incorporated or embedded R1 Intellectual Property as needed for Client to use the Client Deliverable.

(hhh) As between R1 and Client, Client owns all right, title, or interest in or to copyrights, patents, trade secrets and other
Intellectual Property Rights, in and to methods, processes, techniques, strategies, materials, images, prototypes, software, source and object code and
related materials of Client or any of its Affiliates (the “Client Intellectual Property”). Nothing in this Services Agreement, including any of its Exhibits, or
in any other agreement between the Parties assigns, conveys or licenses to R1 or any other person or entity any Client Intellectual Property of Client or any
of its Affiliates, or grants any exclusive rights to the Client Intellectual Property to R1 or any other person or entity, except that R1 will have the non-
exclusive rights expressly set forth in this Services Agreement.

(iii) Without limitation to Article IX, each Party will protect the other Party’s Intellectual Property with the same care
and diligence as it would use to protect its own Intellectual Property, but in no event will such care and diligence be less than commercially reasonable care
and diligence. Each Party will take all necessary and appropriate steps to safeguard the other’s Intellectual Property against infringement or
misappropriation by its employees, former employees, vendors, affiliates, and others to whom they have directly, or indirectly, made such Intellectual
Property available.



.69 Client Data. As between Client and R1, Client Data is owned by Client. R1 will safeguard and keep confidential the Client Data.

.70 Consent to Use Data. Client grants to R1 the limited right and license to use and disclose Client Data for the sole purpose of making the
Services available to Service Recipients. [***]. “De-Identified Data” means data that R1 derives from the Client Data which has been de-identified and
aggregated in accordance with HIPAA.

71 Client Software. Client will provide and hereby grants to R1, during the Term, a non-exclusive, non-transferable (except as provided
under Section 23.6), fully paid-up, royalty-free, right and license to access, use, execute, display, perform, and allow R1 Contractors to access, use, execute,
display, and perform on R1’s behalf, any Client software, Client Intellectual Property, processes, methodologies, works of authorship and technology which
are made available to R1 in connection with the Services and required for R1 to be able to perform the Services, but solely for R1 to provide the Services in
accordance with the terms of this Services Agreement. To the extent that R1 needs a license to third-party software and content provided, leased or licensed
by Client in order to provide the Services hereunder, Client will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain for R1, during the Term, a non-exclusive,
non-transferable (except as provided under Section 23.6), fully paid-up, royalty-free, right and license to access, use, display, and allow R1 Contractors to
access, use, reproduce, display, and perform on R1’s behalf, for the benefit of Client only and only to perform the Services hereunder, the third-party
software and content provided, leased or licensed by Client along with the related documentation in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth
herein and the terms of the applicable third-party license agreement which are provided to R1. If a provider of third-party software and content will not
permit Client to grant such a license, the Parties will cooperate and assist each other, and use commercially reasonable efforts, to obtain, any third-party
consents required. The cost of obtaining any consent with respect to any such licenses shall be shared equally by the Parties. To the extent that any such
consent is not obtained, the Parties will cooperate in good faith to enter into arrangements reasonably acceptable to both Parties.

XIVSECURITY PROGRAM

.72 Security Program. R1 shall implement and maintain a comprehensive written information security program consistent with HITRUST,
industry-standards applicable to tier-one vendors of Similar Services, and Applicable Law. R1’s information security program shall include appropriate
administrative, technical, physical, organizational and operational safeguards and other security measures to protect (i) the security, confidentiality,
integrity, and availability of Client Data; (ii) threats or hazards to the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of Client Data; and (iii) against unauthorized
access to or use of any Client Data. R1 shall exercise the necessary and appropriate supervision over its personnel to maintain appropriate privacy,
confidentiality, and security of Client Data. R1 shall provide training, as appropriate, regarding security and privacy relevant to the protection and
management of Client Data. R1’s security program shall include physical and logical access control mechanisms to prevent unauthorized access to R1’s
facilities and systems associated with Client Data, applications, and systems and shall limit access to personnel with a business need to know. Such
requirements shall include that: (a) each person must have an individual account that authenticates the individual’s access to Client Data, (b) R1 will
maintain a process to review access controls on a periodic basis for all personnel who have access to Client Data, applications or systems, and (c) R1 shall
revoke access for any personnel who no longer have a need for such access. R1 shall comply with Client’s information security requirements set forth in
Exhibit 14.1.

XVBUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

.73 Business Associate Agreement. The Parties have entered into that certain Business Associate Agreement, effective as of March 17, 2021
(“BAA’!)'
XVICOMPLIANCE AND AUDIT MATTERS
.74 Compliance with Law and Regulations.

GiD Each Party will comply, and will cause its personnel (including R1 Contractors in the case of R1) and its agents to
comply, with all Applicable Laws, including the antikickback statutes (as they are commonly



known) applicable to its business and performance or receipt, as applicable, of the Services. R1 represents and warrants to Client that: (i) R1 and its
directors, officers and employees are not excluded from participation in any Federal Health Care Program or any form of state Medicaid program and (ii) to
R1’s knowledge, there are no pending or threatened governmental investigations that may lead to such exclusion.

(kkk) Additionally, Client represents and warrants to R1 that: (i) there are no Client personnel, including Designated
Employees for as long as they are employed by Client, excluded from participation in any Federal Health Care Program or any form of state Medicaid
program and (ii) to Client’s knowledge, there are no pending or threatened governmental investigations that may lead to such exclusion. Each Party agrees
to notify the other Party of the commencement of any such exclusion or investigation promptly after the first Party is made aware of any such matter.

.75 R1 Contractor Compliance. R1 represents and warrants that each of its agreements with R1 Contractors contains or will contain
provisions regarding the protection of Client’s Confidential Information and compliance, as applicable and as contemplated herein, and that each of the R1
Contractors has entered into, or will enter into, a business associate agreement with R1 with respect to HIPAA. R1 further represents and warrants that none
of the R1 Contractors is an “excluded provider” under any Federal Health Care Program. In the event that any of the R1 Contractors is confirmed as an
“excluded provider” under applicable governmental standards, R1 shall promptly terminate its use of that R1 Contractor.

.76 Compliance Programs.

(1) R1 and Client each represents to the other that throughout the Term they will each have, in effect, an appropriate
corporate compliance program (a “Compliance Program™) designed to assure that their respective personnel and agents are aware of and fully observe the
requirements of all Applicable Laws. In connection with the foregoing, R1 and Client shall provide each other with information reasonably requested by
the other regarding any aspects of the other Party’s Compliance Program relating to the Services and maintain communications in good faith to ensure
compliance relating to each Party’s obligations under this Services Agreement.

(mmm) R1’s Executive Vice President, Compliance & Risk (Chief Compliance Officer) or his/her designee (the “R1
Compliance Officer”) and Client’s Chief Compliance Officer or his/her designee (the “Client Compliance Officer”) shall coordinate and cooperate with one
another to: (i) provide each other with information reasonably requested by the other regarding the aspects of such Party’s Compliance Program relating to
the Services; and (ii) in good faith keep each other updated about those aspects of the respective Compliance Programs that relate to the Services or the
Party’s obligations under this Services Agreement.

.77 Record Retention. For a period of four (4) years (or ten (10) years, with respect to patient billing records only) after services are
furnished under this Services Agreement, R1 shall retain and permit the Comptroller General of the United States, the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services and their respective duly authorized representatives access to examine or copy this Services Agreement and such books, documents, and
records of R1 as are reasonably necessary to verify the nature and extent of the costs of the services supplied under this Services Agreement.

.78 Compliance Investigations, Notifications and Reports.

(nnn) During the Term, R1 and Client agree to cooperate with one another in good faith in the investigation and resolution
of any compliance matter that may arise affecting the Services to be provided under this Services Agreement. It is the Parties’ mutual intention that any
investigations undertaken regarding the provision of the Services or this Services Agreement or the BAA will be undertaken jointly, and in a coordinated
fashion, by the R1 Compliance Officer and the Client Compliance Officer unless either Party determines, in its sole judgment, to proceed with an
independent investigation.

(o00) The R1 Compliance Officer shall maintain routine communications with the Client Compliance Officer on aspects of
the Parties respective Compliance Program relating to the Services. Such contacts shall occur on a regularly scheduled basis, subject to the Parties’
coordination.



(ppp) Without limiting the above, each Party’s compliance head (i.e., the R1 Compliance Officer and the Client
Compliance Officer) shall promptly notify the other Party of (i) actual or potential compliance issues identified by a Party’s Compliance Program relating
to the Services, or (ii) any subpoena or similar compulsory request for information or documents, in coordination with the Parties’ respective internal or
external legal counsel as applicable, relating to the Services. The Parties shall develop a system to facilitate and document these communications.

.79 Client Revenue Cycle Operations Policies. Each Party shall have in place appropriate privacy, security and other policies and
procedures for its revenue cycle operations, and shall provide to the other Party all such policies and procedures necessary for the other Party to perform its
obligations under this Services Agreement. In doing so, each Party retains the right to review and provide comments on the other Party’s policies and
procedures for purposes of ensuring that it can carry out its obligations under this Services Agreement consistent with all Applicable Laws. Each Party will
notify the other Party of any known or suspected non-compliance with respect to Client’s policies or procedures. With respect to any (i) comments provided
by a Party on the other Party’s policies or procedures or (ii) known or suspected non-compliance, each Party agrees to promptly review any such feedback
or matters, taking into account any advice of R1 in good faith, and take such actions as it deems reasonably necessary. Without limiting the foregoing,
during the Term, Client agrees to maintain a policy and procedure related to patient financial liability that defines self-pay accounts receivable management
and timelines for placement with pre-collection and bad debt collection agencies. Client agrees that such policy will contain a definition for when an
account is in default.

.80 PCI Compliance. R1 will support Client’s compliance with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (promulgated by the
PCI Data Security Standards Council).

.81 Litigation Holds. In the event of third-party legal proceedings relating to Client Data, R1 will cooperate with Client, comply with
Client’s reasonable instructions, and comply with Applicable Law with respect to handling of such Client Data. In addition, R1 will segregate, retain
(beyond the termination or expiration of Agreement), limit read/write access, or return to Client or its designee any Client Data or other data related to the
Services in connection with a litigation hold or other litigation (or anticipated litigation) procedure, as reasonably requested in advance by Client, its
Affiliates or any third party (including any Governmental Authority).

.82 Government Approvals and Client and R1 Consents.

(qqq) R1 shall (i) obtain and maintain all Governmental Approvals required for R1 and any R1 Contractors to provide the
Services, (ii) obtain, maintain and comply with all of the R1 Consents and (iii) comply with the Client Consents. Client shall, with assistance as requested
from R1, obtain, maintain and comply with the Client Consents. Each Party shall cooperate with the other Party, as requested by the other Party, in the
other Party’s obtaining the Governmental Approvals and the consents that such other Party is required to obtain pursuant to this Agreement.

(trr) If R1 fails to obtain or provide a Governmental Approval or R1 Consent pursuant to paragraph (a) of this
Section 16.9, then R1 shall develop and, [***], implement a suitable alternative process, approach or solution that resolves the issue. If (i) a suitable
alternative is not available in Client’s reasonable discretion, or if R1 refuses or is unable to perform or implement an alternative, and (ii) not obtaining that
Governmental Approval or R1 Consent would negatively impact the provision of a material portion of the Services, then [***].

XVIIAUDITS AND REPORTING

.83 Audit Rights. During the Term, but not more than once in any twelve (12) month period, upon reasonable request, advance written
notice from Client and reasonable opportunity for coordination and alignment relating to scope between R1 and Client, R1 shall provide such Client’s
designated auditors with reasonable access to audit and inspect the Services (including facilities), R1’s compliance with the terms of this Agreement, and
R1’s books and records related to the Services, in each case during R1’s normal business hours of operation and conducted in a manner that does not
materially disrupt R1’s normal business operation. Client shall not use any auditor who (i) is an R1 Competitor, or (ii) is currently R1’s public auditor, or
has a conflict of interest with R1 that, in the auditor’s judgment, precludes its ability to accept the engagement. With respect to any such audit or
investigation R1 shall



have the right to demand appropriate protections against disclosure of R1 Intellectual Property and Confidential Information. Client’s auditors shall be
required to comply with any security policies and procedures provided by R1 and shall execute standard access and confidential information agreements
reasonably requested by R1. None of the foregoing limitations on Client’s audit rights in this Section 17.1 apply to audits or inspections conducted by or at
the request of a Governmental Authority. If any audit, examination, or inspection reveals that R1’s invoices for the audited period are not correct, subject to
an opportunity for R1 to respond to the auditor, R1 shall promptly [***].

.84 External Audits and Reports.

(sss) As soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Date in accordance with R1’s scheduled testing protocol and
annually thereafter, R1 shall have a third party conduct a SOC 2 Type II audit or equivalent industry accepted standard assessment of each of its facilities
where Client Data is stored or from which R1 performs any Services and will provide a copy of the SOC 2 Type II report or equivalent assessment report to
Client following the audit. R1 will use commercially reasonable efforts to remedy security issues identified by the audit or report or if no remedy is
necessary then provide a detailed response to the auditor explaining why no remedy is necessary with respect to an identified deficiency. On an annual
basis, R1 agrees to obtain a SOC 2 Type II report or equivalent industry accepted assessment report from each service center or other facility at which R1
stores any Client Data and will provide a copy of such reports to Client.

(ttt) R1 shall have a third party conduct a SOC 1 Type II audit of its financial controls covering the period from [***].
For [***], R1 will reasonably cooperate with Client’s internal audit team and external auditors to provide detailed information on R1’s processes and
controls, and allow Client’s audit team to perform substantive testing needed to satisfy Client’s audit requirements. R1 will support these [***] efforts at
R1’s expense. Beginning [***], R1 shall have a third-party conduct an annual SOC 1 Type II audit of its financial controls, and will provide a copy of the
SOC 1 Type II report to Client following the audit. R1 will use commercially reasonable efforts to remedy issues identified by the audit or report or if no
remedy is necessary then provide a detailed response to the auditor explaining why no remedy is necessary with respect to an identified deficiency.

.85 Pre-Transition Assessment. R1 shall be entitled to conduct (directly or through an agent of R1), at R1’s expense, a comprehensive
compliance assessment of all Services of such Service Recipient (a “Pre-Transition Assessment”). Client shall reasonably cooperate with R1 in connection
with any Pre-Transition Assessment, including by facilitating access to the applicable Service Recipient and personnel of such Service Recipient. If the Pre-
Transition Assessment includes any adverse findings, R1 will identify and describe the adverse findings to Client’s designated compliance representative.
The Parties will then jointly review the findings to determine the relative materiality and priority of the findings, potential resolutions for each adverse
finding, and which, if any, require resolution in order for R1 to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement. If Client disputes any aspect of the findings, the
dispute will be referred to the Joint Review Board, with input from each Party’s compliance representatives. Notwithstanding anything in this Services
Agreement to the contrary, R1 shall have no responsibility or liability for any non-compliance with any Applicable Law, payor contract requirements, or
this Services Agreement that existed as of or prior to the Effective Date, including to the extent identified by a Pre-Transition Assessment with respect to
any Service Recipient if such non-compliance continues to occur after the Commencement Date (either because Client would not or was not able to remedy
or R1 cannot reasonably remedy) (such non-compliance, “Client Controlled Non-Compliance”). However, R1 shall be responsible for (i) performance of
all of the Services and (ii) meeting its compliance obligations under the Services Agreement, in each case of (i) and (ii), except to the extent such
performance or compliance is materially and adversely affected by any Client Controlled Non-Compliance. The Pre-Transition Assessment will be
conducted subject to the terms of this Services Agreement, and the results of the Pre-Transition Assessment constitute Client’s Confidential Information.

.86 Audit Support. From time to time during the Term, Client may perform audits of its internal business operations unrelated to the
Services (and, for clarity, excluding payer audits). In connection with such audits, R1 shall (i) provide any assistance reasonably requested by Client or a
third-party auditor designated by Client (“Permitted Auditor”), (ii) make requested personnel, records, systems and information available to Client or a
Permitted Auditor in response to an audit or request for information, (iii) make copies of any data or information that Client or a Permitted Auditor has the
right to access (which Client and such Permitted Auditor shall be permitted to retain), and (iv) provide any reasonably requested assistance, personnel,
records, systems and information in an expeditious manner to facilitate the timely completion of such audit. To the extent that R1 reasonably anticipates
that



any R1 personnel will be spending more than five percent (5%) (in any given calendar month) of his or her working time providing to Client any of the
assistance set forth above for the types of audits described in this Section, the Parties will agree to appropriate fees to compensate R1 for such assistance.

.87 Questionnaire. Client requires its service providers to complete periodic (but not more than once per year) security and compliance
questionnaires as a part of its ongoing vendor management protocols. R1 completed this questionnaire and provided it to Client on or prior to the Effective
Date, and represents that the responses contained therein are complete and correct as of the date they were provided, and that R1 will comply with the
controls described in the questionnaire on an ongoing basis during the Term.

XVIIIINDEMNIFICATION AND LIABILITY
.88 IP Indemnification.

(uuu) R1 shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Client and its Affiliates, directors, officers, employees, subcontractors,
and assigns (collectively, the “Client Indemnitees”) from and against any third-party claim alleging, or resulting in, losses, liabilities, judgments, awards,
penalties, fines, assessments, interest, statutory amounts, and costs (including reasonable legal fees and expenses) (“Damages”) to the extent arising out of
or related to any claim that Client’s use or receipt of any Services, R1 Intellectual Property, or R1 Technology in compliance with this Services Agreement
(“R1 Licensed IP”) infringes or misappropriates a third party’s patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret or other Intellectual Property Right in any
jurisdiction in or from which Services are provided.

(vvv) Client shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless R1 and its Affiliates, directors, officers, employees, subcontractors,
and assigns (collectively, the “R1 Indemnitees”) from and against any third-party claim alleging, or resulting in, Damages to the extent arising out of or
related to any claim that Client’s intellectual property licensed to R1 Indemnitees under and in accordance with this Services Agreement (“Client Licensed
IP”) infringes or misappropriates a third party’s U.S. patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret or other Intellectual Property Right.

(www) Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to the R1 Licensed IP and the Client Licensed IP (each referred to
herein as “Licensed IP”), the applicable Party acting as indemnitor under Section 18.1(a) or Section 18.1(b) with respect thereto (each an
“Indemnitor”) shall have no indemnification obligation under Section 18.1(a) or Section 18.1(b), to the applicable indemnitees thereunder (each an
“Indemnitee”), for any Damages to the extent resulting from or arising out of: (i) the combination of Indemnitor’s Licensed IP by Indemnitee with any
items not supplied by Indemnitor and with which the Indemnitor’s Licensed IP was not reasonably intended or anticipated to be combined; (ii) the
modification of any Licensed IP by Indemnitee, or by Indemnitor in compliance with specific written design specifications or instructions provided by
Indemnitee and required by Indemnitee to be followed by Indemnitor; (iii) the use of any Licensed IP by Indemnitee other than in accordance with the
terms and conditions of this Services Agreement or any applicable third-party terms and conditions previously furnished to Indemnitee; or (iv) continued
allegedly infringing activity by (or permitted or enabled by) Indemnitee more than forty-five (45) days after Indemnitee has been notified by Indemnitor of
the possible infringement, in each case to the extent such infringement would not occur or exist but for the actions described in (i) — (iii).

(xxx) If the Licensed IP furnished by an Indemnitor become or are likely to become the subject of an infringement claim,
then, in addition to defending the claim and paying any Damages as required above, the Indemnitor shall, at its option and in its sole discretion, either
(i) promptly replace or modify such materials, without loss of material functionality or performance, to make them non-infringing or (ii) promptly procure
for the Indemnitee the right to continue using the materials pursuant to this Services Agreement. Any costs associated with implementing either of the
above alternatives will be borne by the Indemnitor.

.89 Indemnification by R1. R1 shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Client Indemnitees from and against any third-party claim
alleging, or resulting in, Damages to the extent arising out of or related to: (a) the grossly negligent acts or omissions or willful misconduct during the
course of its performance of this Services Agreement by R1, its Affiliates, R1 Contractors, or their respective employees, agents, or subcontractors; (b) the
breach of any representation and warranty provided herein by R1; (c¢) R1’s breach of its obligations under Article IX (Confidentiality), Article XTV
(Security Program), Article XV (Business Associate Agreement), or Article XVI (Compliance and Audit Matters), (d) any violation of Applicable Law by
R1, its Affiliates, R1 Contractors, or their



respective employees, agents, or subcontractors, or (e) death, personal injury or property loss or damage resulting from acts or omissions by R1, its
Affiliates, R1 Contractors, or their respective employees, agents, or subcontractors in performing the Services under this Agreement.

.90 Indemnification by Client. Client shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the R1 Indemnitees from and against any third-party claim
alleging, or resulting in, Damages to the extent arising out of or related to: (a) the grossly negligent acts or omissions or willful misconduct by Client, its
Affiliates, employees or subcontractors in connection with this Agreement; (b) Client’s breach of any representation and warranty provided herein by

Article XV (Business Associate Agreement), or Article XVI (Compliance and Audit Matters), (d) any violation of Applicable Law or payor contract
requirements by Client, Affiliates, the Service Recipients, or their respective employees, agents, or subcontractors, or (e) death, personal injury or property
loss or damage resulting from acts or omissions by Client, its Affiliates, the Service Recipients, or their respective employees, agents, or subcontractors.

91 Indemnification Procedures. Promptly after receipt by any person or entity entitled to indemnification under this Services Agreement of
notice of the commencement or threatened commencement of any civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative action or proceeding involving a claim in
respect of which the Indemnitee will seek indemnification hereunder, the Indemnitee shall notify the Indemnitor of such claim. No delay or failure to so
notify an Indemnitor shall relieve it of its obligations under this Services Agreement except to the extent that such Indemnitor has suffered actual, material
prejudice by such delay or failure. Within fifteen (15) days following receipt of notice from the Indemnitee relating to any claim, but no later than five
(5) days before the date on which any response to a complaint or summons is due, the Indemnitor shall notify the Indemnitee that the Indemnitor elects to
assume control of the defense and settlement of that claim (a “Notice of Election”). If the Indemnitor delivers a Notice of Election within the required
notice period, the Indemnitor shall assume sole control over the defense and settlement of the claim; provided, however, that (a) the Indemnitor shall keep
the Indemnitee fully apprised at all times as to the status of the defense, and (b) the Indemnitor shall obtain the prior written approval of the Indemnitee
before entering into any settlement of such claim imposing financial or non-financial obligations or restrictions on the Indemnitee or constituting an
admission of guilt or wrongdoing by the Indemnitee or ceasing to defend against such claim. The Indemnitor shall not be liable for any legal fees or
expenses incurred by the Indemnitee following the delivery of a Notice of Election; provided, however, that (i) the Indemnitee shall be entitled to employ
counsel at its own expense to participate in the handling of the claim, and (ii) the Indemnitor shall pay the fees and expenses associated with such counsel if
there is a conflict of interest with respect to such claim which is not otherwise resolved or if the Indemnitor has requested the assistance of the Indemnitee
in the defense of the claim, (in which case Indemnitee shall provide the Indemnitor, at the expense of the Indemnitor, with reasonable assistance in the
defense of the claim) or the Indemnitor has failed to defend the claim diligently and the Indemnitee is prejudiced or likely to be prejudiced by such failure.
The Indemnitor shall not be obligated to indemnify the Indemnitee for any amount paid or payable by such Indemnitee in the settlement of any claim if
(x) the Indemnitor has delivered a timely Notice of Election and such amount was agreed to without the written consent of the Indemnitor, (y) the
Indemnitee has not provided the Indemnitor with notice of such claim and a reasonable opportunity to respond thereto, or (z) the time period within which
to deliver a Notice of Election has not yet expired. If the Indemnitor does not deliver a Notice of Election relating to any claim for which it is obligated to
indemnify the other party hereunder within the required notice period, the Indemnitee shall have the right to defend the claim in such manner as it may
deem appropriate. The Indemnitor shall promptly reimburse the Indemnitee for all such reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Indemnitee,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees.

.92 Limitations of Liability.

(yyy) Damages Cap. EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 18.5(d), NEITHER PARTY’S LIABILITY FOR
DAMAGES HEREUNDER, REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, SHALL EXCEED, IN THE AGGREGATE, THE GREATER OF [***]. If, at
the time of the initial claim made by a Party, [***] have not elapsed since the Effective Date, the amount in clause (ii) will not exceed [***]. If notice of the
very first claim is provided after the expiration or termination of this Services Agreement, the amount in clause (ii) will not exceed an amount equal to
Services Agreement from time to time. If a Party is liable for damages on successive occasions during the Term, the limit based on Charges may vary on
each occasion, since each



will involve a different [***]. On each occasion, the limit is initially determined as the total Charges during the [***] then ended (based on the date the
claim arose), but is then reduced by any damages for which the Party has been liable on previous occasions.

(zzz) Damages Disclaimer. Neither Party will be liable (whether in contract, warranty, tort, product liability or other
theory) to the other Party or any other person or entity for any indirect, incidental, special, consequential, punitive or exemplary damages arising out of this
Services Agreement, even if such Party has been made aware of the possibility of such damages.

(aaaa) Super Cap for Certain Claims. AS AN EXCEPTION TO THE GENERAL DAMAGES CAP SET FORTH IN
SECTION 18.5(a) AND DISCLAIMER SET FORTH IN SECTION 18.5(b), NEITHER PARTY’S LIABILITY FOR DAMAGES HEREUNDER,
REGARDLESS OF THE TYPE OF DAMAGE OR FORM OF ACTION, ARISING FROM A PARTY’S BREACH OF ARTICLE XIV (SECURITY
PROGRAM), ARTICLE XV (BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT), OR ARTICLE XVII (COMPLIANCE AND AUDIT MATTERS) SHALL
EXCEED, IN THE AGGREGATE, [***].

(bbbb) Exclusions. THE CAPS AND DISCLAIMERS ON LIABILITY SET FORTH IN SECTIONS 18.5(a), 18.5(b) AND
18.5(c), RESPECTIVELY, DO NOT APPLY TO: (I) CLIENT’S OBLIGATION TO PAY UNDISPUTED CHARGES UNDER THIS SERVICES
AGREEMENT, (II) DAMAGES ARISING FROM FRAUD, GROSS NEGLIGENCE, OR INTENTIONAL MISCONDUCT, (III) MISAPPROPRIATION
OR VIOLATION OF THE OTHER PARTY’S INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS, (IV) EITHER PARTY’S INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS
(INCLUDING OBLIGATIONS TO PAY ASSOCIATED DAMAGES), (V) EITHER PARTY’S BREACH OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER ARTICLE IX
(CONFIDENTIALITY), (VI) EITHER PARTY’S VIOLATION OF APPLICABLE LAW, AND (VII) DAMAGES RESULTING FROM PERSONAL

INJURY, DEATH, OR DAMAGE TO PROPERTY.

(ccce) THIS SECTION 18.5 STATES THE ENTIRE LIABILITY OWED TO EACH PARTY FOR ANY AND ALL
DAMAGES ARISING UNDER OR RELATING TO THIS SERVICES AGREEMENT (INCLUDING INDEMNITY CLAIMS UNDER SECTIONS 18.1-
18.3) AND ANY OTHER CLAIMS ARISING UNDER ANY OTHER AGREEMENTS OR DOCUMENTS ATTACHED HERETO (OR
INCORPORATED HEREIN OR THEREIN BY REFERENCE) FROM WHATEVER SOURCE. THE FOREGOING LIMITATION OF LIABILITY
REPRESENTS THE ALLOCATION OF RISK BETWEEN THE PARTIES AS REFLECTED IN THE PRICING HEREUNDER AND IS AN
ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE BASIS OF THE BARGAIN BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

XIXINSURANCE
.93 R1 Insurance Requirements. R1 will obtain and continuously maintain the following insurance coverages throughout the Term and for
three (3) years thereafter:
(dddd) Workmen’s Compensation — [***].
(eeee) Comprehensive General Liability Insurance — [***] per occurrence and [***] in the aggregate.
(fftf) Comprehensive Auto Liability Insurance — [***] per occurrence.
(gggg) Umbrella excess liability coverage above the commercial general liability and comprehensive automobile liability

described above in all amount not less than [***] per occurrence/accident.

(hhhh) Crime Insurance — R1 is responsible for loss to owner and third-party property/assets and shall maintain
comprehensive crime insurance coverage for the dishonest acts of its employees in a minimum amount of [***]. Client is to be named loss payee with
respect to the comprehensive crime insurance coverage.



(iiii) Errors and Omissions Liability — R1 shall provide liability limits of at least [***]per claim and [***]in the
aggregate. Coverage shall address all professional services provided by R1 to Client under this Services Agreement. The retroactive insurance date of such
insurance shall be no later than the Effective Date of this Services Agreement.

(vi) Network Security and Privacy with Breach Response Services — third-party liability: [***] per event and
in the aggregate.

(vii) Coverage shall be maintained for the period of time during which R1 (and any of its subcontractor(s))
maintains, possesses, stores, or has access to Client Data, and for a period of three (3) years following the termination or
expiration of this Agreement, or the cessation of Services provided by R1 to the Company, whichever is longer. Tail or ERP
(extended reporting period) coverage for a minimum of three (3) years must be purchased if non-renewed or cancelled.

GiiD R1 shall obtain and maintain the insurance policies referred to in Section 19.1 for the following periods:

(viii)  for the Term, in the case of insurance policies that are on an “occurrence” basis (that is, policies that
cover any liability arising during the term of the policy); and

(ix) for the Term and three years thereafter, in the case of insurance policies that are on a “claims made” basis
(that is, policies that cover claims made during the term of the policy).

(kkkk) R1 shall not begin performing the Services until it has obtained all the insurance coverage required under
Section 19.1 and furnished satisfactory certificates of insurance to Client. No later than [***] days prior to the expiration dates shown on such certificates
of insurance, R1 shall provide certificates to Client evidencing that the insurance required by this Services Agreement will remain in effect after the
expiration dates listed in the initial certificates. On an annual basis, R1 shall also furnish to Client certificates of insurance or other appropriate
documentation naming Client as an additional insured on the commercial general liability and umbrella policies for liabilities assumed in this Agreement.
Neither R1 nor the carrier may cancel or materially alter the coverage without Client’s prior written consent. Any such cancellation or material alteration
will not relieve R1 of its continuing obligation to maintain insurance coverage in accordance with this Section.

.94 Client Insurance Requirements. Client will obtain and continuously maintain the following insurance coverages throughout the Term:

Q1) Workers” Compensation — statutory limits in each state as applicable to the Professionals or Client’s licensed
personnel who are members, employees or independent contractors providing services on behalf of Client.

(mmmm) Comprehensive General Liability Insurance — [***] per occurrence and [***] in the annual aggregate, covering
Client’s property, the activities of the Professionals, and all other individuals performing services on behalf of Client.

(nnnn) Comprehensive Auto Liability Insurance — [***] per occurrence.

(o000) Umbrella excess liability coverage above the Comprehensive General Liability Insurance and Comprehensive Auto
Liability Insurance described above in an amount not less than [***] per occurrence/accident.

(pPPP) Professional Liability Insurance — [***] per occurrence and [***] in the annual aggregate, covering Client, the
Professionals and all other individuals performing services on behalf of Client.

(qqqq) Network Security and Privacy with Breach Response Services — third-party liability: [***] per event and in the
aggregate.



XXTERM AND TERMINATION

.95 Term. The term of this Services Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and will continue for five (5) years thereafter (the
“Initial Term”), and shall automatically renew for a period of two (2) years, unless Client provides six (6) months’ prior written notice of non-renewal (the
“Renewal Term”) (subject to any early termination or extension in accordance herewith, the Initial Term and any Renewal Term, the “Term”).

.96 Terms of Work Orders. The term for each Work Order shall begin on the effective date set forth in such Work Order and continue for the
rest of the Term, unless such Work Order sets forth an earlier expiration date or is earlier terminated in accordance with its terms.

.97 Termination for Cause. If a Party commits a material breach of this Services Agreement (which for purposes of this Section 20.3 shall
not include any failure to meet or exceed a Service Level), which is not cured within [***] days from the breaching Party’s receipt of a written notice of the
breach, then the non-breaching Party may, by giving notice to the breaching Party terminate this Services Agreement in whole or in part. The notice of
breach must identify the obligations or provisions that are breached and must generally describe what Client believes is necessary for the breaching Party to
cure the breach (if the breach is curable). For purposes of this provision, a material breach also means individual lesser breaches that collectively have the
same impact as a single material breach.

.98 Termination for Exclusion from Federal Health Care Program; Changes in Law.

(rrrr) Exclusion from Federal Health Care Program. A Party shall have the right to immediately terminate, upon
written notice to the other Party, this Services Agreement if the other Party is excluded from a Federal Health Care Program, subject to Section 20.10.

(ssss) Changes in Law. Upon expiration of the Workaround Period (during which no reasonable workaround has been
agreed to in accordance with Section 20.4(d)), a Party, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the other Party, may terminate the applicable portion of
the Services if there is a change in an Applicable Law but only to the extent that, as a result of such change: (i) it would be unlawful for the terminating
Party to continue to perform or receive such applicable portion of the Services; or (ii) the continued performance or receipt by the terminating Party of such
applicable portion of the Services would have a Material Adverse Effect on such Party’s business, taken as a whole.

(tete) Compliance Issue. Upon expiration of the Workaround Period (during which no reasonable workaround has been
agreed to in accordance with Section 20.4(d)), Client, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to R1, may terminate this Services Agreement in whole or
in part if, in Client’s reasonable judgment, Client’s relationship with R1 or any R1 Contractor is reasonably likely to subject Client (or any Service
Recipient) to (i) disciplinary action by a Governmental Authority, or (ii) cause Client (or any Service Recipient) to lose or become unable to obtain or
reinstate any federal, state or foreign registration, license or approval that is material to Client’s (or any Service Recipient’s) business.

(uuuu) Reasonable Workarounds. Prior to either Party exercising any termination right in (b) or (c) above, unless a Party
is prohibited from doing so by an Adverse Judgment the Parties shall cooperate in good faith, through the Joint Review Board and more senior executives
as required, for at least sixty (60) days to agree upon and implement a reasonable workaround that would cure the actual or potential compliance concern or
violation of Applicable Law (either Party may extend that period by up to an additional sixty (60) days).

The process set forth in Section 20.4(d) is collectively referred to as the “Workaround Period”. Nothing in this Section 20.4 will
negate, limit, or affect any right of termination under any other Section of this Services Agreement.

(vwvv) Termination of a Portion of the Services. In the event of a termination of a portion of the Services pursuant to this
Section 20.4, the termination shall be applied to the Service Recipients that were previously receiving such Services and an equitable reduction will be
made to the Charges and other fees to take into account the



reduced scope of the Services being performed by R1 pursuant to Exhibit 11.1-A. If the Parties cannot agree on the reduction, then the matter will be
decided under Article XXI.

.99 Termination for Insolvency. If any Party (the “Insolvent Party”) (a) files for bankruptcy, (b) becomes or is declared insolvent, or is the
subject of any bona fide proceedings related to its liquidation, administration, provisional liquidation, insolvency or the appointment of a receiver or similar
officer for it, (c) passes a resolution for its voluntary liquidation, (d) has a receiver or manager appointed over all or substantially all of its assets, or
(e) makes an assignment for the benefit of all or substantially all of its creditors, then the other Party may terminate this Services Agreement upon prior
written notice to the Insolvent Party; provided, however, that (x) any Insolvent Party subject to an involuntary proceeding will have a reasonable amount of
time (and in no event less than sixty (60) days) to have such proceeding dismissed or stayed prior to the other Party having the right to terminate this
Services Agreement pursuant to this Section 20.5, (y) R1 will not have the right to terminate this Services Agreement under this Section 20.5 so long as
Client pays for the Services to be received hereunder in advance on a month-to-month basis, and (z) Client will not have the right to terminate this Services
Agreement under this Section 20.5 so long as R1 continues to provide the Services in accordance with this Services Agreement.

.100  Termination for [***]. If there is a [***], Client may [***].
.101  Termination for [***]. If there is a [***], Client may, [***].

.102  Service Level Termination Event. If a Service Level Termination Event occurs, Client may terminate this Services Agreement by
written notice to R1 effective as of the date specified in such notice; provided, however, that (a) the effective date of termination specified in such notice
cannot be more than [***] days after the Service Level Termination Event occurs, (b) such notice must be given within [***] days after the Service Level
Termination Event occurs, and (c) if such termination is effective during the Initial Term, Client [***]. Service Level Termination Event is defined in
Exhibit 3.5. [***].

.103  Termination Related to BAA. Client may terminate this Services Agreement as provided in the BAA.
.104  Termination Assistance.

(Wwwww) Upon termination or expiration of this Services Agreement (whether in whole or in part), R1 shall provide to Client,
or at Client’s request, to any successor vendor, the reasonable termination assistance requested by Client to allow the Services to continue without
interruption or adverse effect and to facilitate the orderly transfer of the Services to Client or any successor vendor (“Termination Assistance”). The
Termination Assistance term shall commence upon expiration or termination for a period of [***]. If this Agreement is terminated by R1 for non-payment
by Client under Section 20.3 hereof, R1 shall only be required to provide Termination Assistance if Client pays all amounts due and owing and prepays any
undisputed fees for outstanding Services and estimated Termination Assistance fees (as reasonably estimated by R1). R1 shall perform Termination
Assistance using its then existing resources dedicated to providing Services under this Agreement at the then-current Charges for such Services. In
connection with the provision of Termination Assistance, to the extent that resources additional to those then dedicated to providing the applicable
terminated Service are needed or there is no charging methodology agreed by the Parties with respect to any portion of the Termination Assistance, R1 shall
provide such resources on a time and materials basis at mutually agreed rates determined at such time.

(xxxx) R1 shall, within [***] of the Commencement Date, provide to Client for its review an initial draft plan for R1’s
provision of Termination Assistance (a “Disengagement Plan”). R1 shall, based on the information and data available to R1 at such time, make good faith
efforts to ensure that the Disengagement Plan (i) specifies Key Personnel or other resources that will be used to perform the Termination Assistance;

(ii) provides an estimate of incremental Charges for any additional resources required to provide the Termination Assistance; (iii) specifies substantially all
things necessary to perform the Termination Assistance as efficiently as possible; and (iv) sets out a timetable and process for Termination Assistance
services that will enable R1 to complete disengagement within the Termination Assistance term. R1 shall review and potentially update the Disengagement
Plan no more than once every [***] during the Term to take into account changes to the Services and share any such updates with Client. To the extent
Client has any concerns regarding such updates, R1 shall discuss such concerns with Client in good faith.




(yyyy) The quality and level of performance of the Services continued during the Termination Assistance term will not be
degraded as compared to the quality and level of performance of such Services before the Termination Assistance term. After the expiration of the
Termination Assistance term, R1 shall (i) answer questions from Client regarding the terminated, insourced or resourced Services on an “as needed” basis
at R1’s then-standard billing rates and (ii) deliver to Client any remaining Client-owned reports and documentation relating to the terminated, insourced or
resourced Services still in R1’s possession.

105 R
XXIDISPUTE RESOLUTION
.106  Compliance with Rights of Cure and Dispute Resolution. Client and R1 each agrees that in the event of any breach of this Services

Agreement, the Parties must follow and comply with the applicable provisions of this Services Agreement relating to the rights of cure, dispute resolution
and termination for cause which are set forth in this Article XXI and Article XX above.

.107  Referral of Dispute to Executive Sponsors. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, any dispute arising under this Services
Agreement shall first be referred to the Client Executive Sponsor and the R1 Executive Sponsor.

.108  Referral of Dispute to Joint Review Board. Any dispute which is not resolved through a good faith dialogue by the Client Executive
Sponsor and the R1 Executive Sponsor within two weeks (or such longer period as may be agreed upon by the Parties or, with respect to payment disputes,
the period set forth in Section 11.7) may be referred, by either Party, to or Joint Review Board for resolution, depending on the nature of the dispute and the
responsibilities of each body. In the event that a dispute is not resolved through a good faith dialogue by the Joint Review Board within two additional
weeks (or such longer period as may be agreed upon by the Parties), then the dispute will be resolved in accordance with the following Section 21.4.

.109  Arbitration. Any dispute which is not resolved by agreement of the Parties as provided in Sections 21.2 and 21.3 shall, except as
otherwise provided in this Services Agreement, be finally settled by arbitration, conducted on a confidential basis, under the Federal Arbitration Act, if
applicable, and the then-current Commercial Arbitration Rules (“Rules”) of the American Arbitration Association (the “Association”) strictly in accordance
with the terms of this Services Agreement and the laws of the State of Florida, excluding its principles of conflicts of laws.

(zzzz) All arbitration hearings shall be held in Fort Lauderdale, Florida. The arbitration decision shall be made as follows:
(i) for disputes involving claims for Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) or less, by one (1) arbitrator who will be selected by mutual agreement of
the Parties or, if they cannot agree, then by the Association in accordance with its applicable rules and procedures; or (ii) for disputes involving claims for
more than Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000), by a panel of three (3) arbitrators, with each Party selecting one arbitrator and the two arbitrators so
selected then selecting the third arbitrator, who shall act as presiding arbitrator. If the Party-selected arbitrators are unable to agree upon the third arbitrator,
if either Party fails to select an arbitrator, or in the case that only one arbitrator is required and the Parties are unable to agree, then the Association shall
select the arbitrator in accordance with its applicable rules and procedures. The arbitrator shall be a licensed practicing attorney, shall have no conflicts,
shall be knowledgeable in the subject matter of the dispute, and shall have experience and education which qualify him or her to competently address the
specific issues to be designated for arbitration. Each Party shall bear its own costs of the arbitration and one-half of the arbitrator’s costs and the costs of the
Association. The arbitrator shall apply Florida substantive law to the proceeding. The arbitrator shall have the power to grant all legal and equitable
remedies and award compensatory damages provided by Florida law, subject to the limitations set forth in this Services Agreement; provided, however, the
arbitrator shall not have the power to amend this Services Agreement, award damages that are disclaimed or in excess of any applicable limits or
disclaimers contained in the Services Agreement. The arbitrator shall prepare in writing and provide to the Parties any award, including factual findings and
the reasons on which the decision is based. The arbitrator shall not have the power to commit errors of law, and the award may be vacated or corrected for
any such error.



(aaaaa) Any award shall be paid within thirty (30) days of the issuance of the arbitrator’s decision. If any award is not paid
within thirty (30) days, any Party may seek entry of a judgment in state or federal courts of a competent jurisdiction in the amount of the award.

(bbbbb) Neither Party shall be excluded from seeking provisional or equitable remedies in the courts of competent
jurisdiction, including but not limited to, temporary restraining orders and preliminary and permanent injunctions, but such remedies shall not be sought as
a means to avoid or stay arbitration. THE PARTIES IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY. ANY LITIGATION BETWEEN THE
PARTIES WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY IN A STATE OR FEDERAL COURT IN THE STATE OF FLORIDA AND ITS COURTS OF
APPEAL, BUT THIS DOES NOT EXCUSE ANY PARTY FROM AN OBLIGATION UNDER THIS SERVICES AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE. THE
PARTIES AGREE AND SUBMIT TO SUCH JURISDICTION AND VENUE. THE REQUIREMENT OF ARBITRATION SET FORTH IN THIS
SECTION SHALL NOT APPLY IN THE EVENT THAT THERE IS THIRD-PARTY JOINDER BY EITHER PARTY OR A THIRD PARTY
INSTITUTES AN ACTION AGAINST ANY PARTY TO THIS SERVICES AGREEMENT, AND SUCH THIRD PARTY IS NOT AMENABLE TO
JOINDER IN THE ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS SECTION.

XXIICONTINUED PROVISION OF SERVICES

.110  Disaster Recovery. R1 shall maintain industry-standard disaster recovery and business continuity plans for R1 staff who work from
home and in respect of each service location that, at a minimum, meet the requirements of Exhibit 22.1 (R1’s plan meeting those minimum requirements,
the “DR Plan”). R1 shall test its DR Plan at least annually and certify the results of such testing to Client. In addition, R1 shall update its DR Plan no less
than annually and upon the occurrence of a significant change in business processes or workflows, service locations, R1 staff or any other change that
would impact the effectiveness of the DR Plan. Upon a disaster (as defined in the DR Plan), R1 shall promptly undertake all applicable actions and
precautions under the DR Plan, and diligently pursue them as necessary to avoid or, if unavoidable, minimize any interruption of Services.

.111  Force Majeure. Each Party will be excused from performance under this Services Agreement for any period and to the extent that it is
prevented from or delayed in performing any obligation pursuant to this Services Agreement in whole, or in part, as a result of a Force Majeure Event (as
defined below). [***]. If either Party is prevented from, or delayed in performing any of its obligations under this Services Agreement by a Force Majeure
Event, it shall promptly notify the other Party of the occurrence of such Force Majeure Event and describe, in reasonable detail, the circumstances
constituting the Force Majeure Event and the obligations which it will be delayed or prevented from performing as a result of the Force Majeure Event.
“Force Majeure Event” means the occurrence of an event or circumstance beyond the reasonable control of a Party, including, but not limited to, acts of
God, pandemic, terrorism, acts of war, riots, strikes, or any change in state or federal statutes which would preclude a Party from performing its obligations
under this Services Agreement; provided, however, that (a) the non-performing Party is without fault in causing or failing to prevent such occurrence and
(b) such occurrence cannot be circumvented by commercially reasonable precautions. The excused Party must exercise its diligent and continuous efforts to
overcome the Force Majeure Event and resume performance. For the avoidance of doubt, COVID-19 is not a Force Majeure Event, and any impact on
performance of the Services as a result of COVID-19 will not be excused by, or covered under, this Section 22.2.

112 [***]. If any Force Majeure Event or disaster delays performance of the Services for more than [***], then the Parties will meet and
discuss the most expeditious and commercially reasonable manner to re-commence performance of the Services that are affected by the failure, hindrance
or delay, the Force Majeure Event and any other services that may necessarily be required to provide such Services (each such Service or portion thereof, a
“Deficient Service”). If, after discussing such possible resolutions in good faith, Client determines that [***].

.113  Allocation of Resources. Whenever a Force Majeure Event or a disaster causes R1 to allocate limited resources among R1’s customers,
R1 shall not give other comparable customers priority over Client or redeploy or reassign any Key Personnel (except as permitted under this Services
Agreement) to another R1 customer.

.114  Continued Performance. Each Party agrees to continue performing its obligations under this Services Agreement, including payment of
Charges, while any dispute is being resolved unless and until such



obligations are terminated by the termination or expiration of this Services Agreement plus any extension attributable to Termination Assistance under
Section 20.10. If there is a breach of this obligation, Client will be entitled to seek and obtain injunctive relief, without posting bond or proving damages.

XXIIIGENERAL TERMS OF AGREEMENT

.115  Authority. Each Party represents and warrants that it has the authority to enter into this Services Agreement, to perform all obligations
hereunder, and to be bound by its terms, and that it has been executed by all necessary and authorized individuals.

116 Survival. The terms of Articles I, IX, XI (to the extent Charges remain due and owing), XV, XVII, XVIII, XIX, and XXIII and Sections
other provisions that expressly or by their nature should survive expiration or other termination will also survive to the extent applicable; provided,
however, that no such survival will require a continuation of Services (or payment for such Services) after expiration or termination except for Termination
Assistance during the extended Term as provided in Section 20.10. Termination of this Services Agreement will not excuse any fees, payments or credits
that accrue or become due prior to termination or any payments for Termination Assistance under Section 20.10.

117 Non-Solicitation. As a result of, and in connection with, their respective activities under this Services Agreement, R1 and Client will
become familiar with the employees of one another. Except as provided in Section 20.11, during the Term [***], and to the full extent permitted by
Applicable Law, each Party agrees not to directly or indirectly solicit or recruit or attempt to solicit or recruit any employee or former employee of the other
Party who has provided services under this Services Agreement [***] prior to the solicitation, without the express written consent of such Party; provided,
however, that such consent is deemed given for Designated Employees to be transitioned to R1 pursuant to Exhibit 10.1. This prohibition against
solicitation is not breached by a Party by its advertisements (e.g., “help wanted ads”) or other solicitations that are of a general nature (e.g., in newspapers
or other publications or on the Internet) that are not specifically targeted to the employees of the other Party.

.118  Record Retention. In addition to R1’s obligations in this Services Agreement, the Parties will each retain standard records and
supporting documentation as required by applicable tax authorities and statutory legal requirements and will make those records available to one another
upon reasonable request if and as required by Applicable Law.

119  Taxes. All service charges, fees, expenses, and other amounts due under this Services Agreement are exclusive of all taxes. Other than
net income taxes imposed on R1, Client shall be responsible for all sales, use, withholding, and value added taxes incurred or assessed in connection with
the Services, and R1 shall invoice Client for those taxes for all taxing jurisdictions where R1 is permitted or required by law to collect such taxes. If the
Services are exempt from any otherwise applicable sales and use tax as a result of such tax-exempt status, Client will provide R1 with any applicable
exemption certificates.

(ccecc) R1 is responsible for any sales tax, use tax, service tax, value added tax, transfer tax, excise tax, tariff, duty or any
other similar tax imposed on R1 with respect to any labor, equipment, materials, goods or services acquired, used or consumed by R1 in providing the
Services.

(ddddd) Neither Party is responsible for any franchise, privilege, income, gross receipts or business activity taxes based on
the other Party’s gross or net income, net worth or business activities. Neither Party is responsible for any real or personal property taxes assessed on
tangible or intangible property owned or leased by the other Party.

(eeeee) Client and R1 shall cooperate to segregate the Charges into the following separate payment streams: (i) those for
taxable Services; and (ii) those for nontaxable Services. In addition, each Party shall cooperate as reasonably requested by the other Party to more
accurately determine the requesting Party’s tax liability and to minimize such liability, to the extent legally permissible. Each Party shall provide and make
available to the other



Party any resale certificates, information regarding out-of-state sales or use of equipment, materials or services, and any other exemption certificates or
information requested by the other Party.

.120  Assignment. This Services Agreement may not be assigned by either Party without the prior written consent of the other Party which
may not be unreasonably withheld; provided, however, that this Services Agreement may be assigned by either Party, with notice (as soon as reasonably
practicable) but without the consent of the other Party, (i) in connection with the sale of substantially all of its assets, or (ii) by operation of law in
connection with a merger or reorganization (including a sale of all or a majority of its equity securities) that includes transfers of all or substantially all of
its assets. Any assignee of this Services Agreement must confirm in writing to the non-assigning Party that the assignee has assumed all of the assigning
Party’s duties and obligations under this Services Agreement.

.121  Relationship of Parties. In connection with this Services Agreement, each Party is an independent contractor. Except as expressly
provided in this Services Agreement, R1 does not undertake, hereunder or otherwise, to perform any obligation of Client, whether legal, regulatory, or
contractual, or to assume any responsibility for Client’s business or operations. This Services Agreement establishes and shall only be construed as
establishing a contract between unrelated business entities for the provision and purchase of certain services and does not and shall not be deemed to create
a joint venture, partnership, fiduciary or agency relationship between the Parties for any purpose. With respect to its own personnel, each Party is
independently responsible for all obligations incumbent upon an employer, but this does not excuse R1 from its obligations to provide Services in
accordance with this Services Agreement.

.122 Notice. Notices to R1 and Client required by this Services Agreement shall be sent via Certified First-Class Mail, or overnight delivery,
to the following respective addresses, and shall be deemed received by the Receiving Party three (3) business days after being mailed Certified First-Class,
or one (1) day after being sent by overnight delivery:

R1 RCM Inc. Mednax Services, Inc.
Attention: Joseph Flanagan, Attention: General Counsel
President and CEO 1301 Concord Terrace

401 N. Michigan, Suite 630 Sunrise, FL. 33323

Chicago, Illinois 60611

With a copy to: R1 RCM Inc. With a copy to:

Attention: General Counsel Attention: COO, Revenue Cycle Management
401 N. Michigan, Suite 630 1301 Concord Terrace

Chicago, Illinois 60611 Sunrise, FL. 33323

.123  Severability. If any provision of this Services Agreement is declared invalid, unenforceable, or void by the arbitrator(s) or a court of
competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not have the effect of invalidating or voiding the remainder of this Services Agreement. Rather, it is the intent of
the Parties that in such an event this Services Agreement will be deemed amended by modifying such provision to render it valid and enforceable while
preserving the original intent of the Parties. If that is not possible, the Parties shall agree on a substitute provision which is legal and enforceable, and which
achieves the same objective as the original provision to the extent possible.

.124  No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Nothing in this Services Agreement is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person (other
than the Parties hereto and the indemnified parties specifically identified herein) any rights, benefits or remedies of any kind or character whatsoever, and
no person or entity shall be deemed a third-party beneficiary under or by reason of this Services Agreement.

.125  Amendment. Except as explicitly provided for herein or in an Exhibit hereto, this Services Agreement may only be amended or
modified by execution of a written amendment or modification signed by both Parties.



.126  Good Faith and Cooperation. The Parties agree to cooperate in good faith regarding the fulfillment of their respective responsibilities
under this Services Agreement recognizing that their mutual cooperation and good faith are essential to the success of their relationship and the
achievement of the business objectives that are basis of this Services Agreement.

.127  Public Disclosure. In connection with the execution of this Services Agreement, the Parties may elect to work together in good faith to
publish a press release for public dissemination contemporaneously with such execution relate to the collaboration of the Parties pursuant to this Services
Agreement. Whether a press release is issued, and the content, timing and communication channels of same, must be mutually agreed prior to its release by
either Party. Otherwise, R1 shall not use the name or marks of Client or any Service Recipient, or use language from which the connection of such name or
mark is apparent, without Client’s prior consent.

.128  Waiver. A delay or omission by either Party to exercise any right or power under this Services Agreement will not be construed to be a
waiver thereof. A waiver by either of the Parties of any of the covenants to be performed by the other Party or any breach thereof will not be construed to
be a waiver of any succeeding breach thereof or of any other covenant specified herein.

.129  Entire Agreement. This Services Agreement, including the Exhibits and accompanying schedules attached hereto, constitutes the entire
agreement between the Parties with respect to its subject matter and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, whether
written or oral, between the Parties with respect to the subject matter. There are no representations, understandings or agreements related to this Services
Agreement which are not fully expressed in this Services Agreement or the Exhibits and schedules. This Section does not negate, limit, or apply to the
BAA or any other agreement executed by the Parties in accordance with the terms of this Services Agreement.

.130  Governing Law. This Services Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida.

.131  Cumulative Remedies. Unless expressly otherwise set forth herein, no right or remedy herein conferred on or reserved to either Party is
intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy, and each and every right and remedy is cumulative and in addition to any other right or remedy under
this Services Agreement, or under Applicable Law, whether now or hereafter existing.

.132  Counterparts and Execution. This Services Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original, which together shall constitute a binding agreement. Each person signing below represents that she or he has the authority to sign this Services
Agreement for and on behalf of the Party for whom she or he is signing.

.133  Construction. This Services Agreement and any documents or instruments delivered pursuant hereto shall be construed without regard
to the identity of the Party who drafted the various provisions of the same. Further, each Party has been represented by legal counsel in connection with the
drafting and negotiation of this Services Agreement and the other agreements referred to herein. Consequently, each Party acknowledges and agrees that
any rule of construction that a document is to be construed against the drafting Party shall not be applicable either to this Services Agreement or such other
documents and instruments. The terms defined in this Services Agreement include the plural as well as the singular and the derivatives of such terms.
Unless otherwise expressly stated, the words “herein,” “hereof,” and “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this Services Agreement as a
whole and not to any particular Article, Section, Subsection, or other subdivision. Article, Section, Subsection and Attachment references refer to articles,
sections and subsections of, and attachments to, this Services Agreement, unless specified otherwise. The words “include” and “including” shall mean
“including but not limited to” so as to introduce a non-exclusive set of examples and shall not be construed as terms of limitation. The words “day,”
“month,” and “year” mean, respectively, calendar day, calendar month and calendar year, and “business days” refers to days Monday through Friday,
excluding Federal holidays. References to an event occurring within a specified period of time “of” an event means such period of time after the event.
Whenever the singular form is used in this Services Agreement, and when required by the context, the same shall include the plural and vice versa, and the
masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa. Use of the word “or” shall not be



deemed exclusive. The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall,” and vice versa. References to any Party
include the successors and permitted assigns of that Party.

.134  Headings. The headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and are in no way intended to describe, interpret, define, or
limit the scope, extent or intent of this Services Agreement or any provision hereof.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]



Agreed to and Accepted by:

R1 RCM Inc.

By: /s/ Vijay Kotte
Name: Vijay Kotte
Its: Chief Solutions Officer

Mednax Services, Inc.

By: /s/ C. Marc Richards
Name: C. Marc Richards
Its: Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark S. Ordan, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Mednax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,

in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s

auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: August 6, 2021

By: /s/ Mark S. Ordan

Mark S. Ordan

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, C. Marc Richards, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Mednax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,

in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s

auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: August 6, 2021

By: /s/ C. Marc Richards

C. Marc Richards

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350
(Adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Mednax, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021 (the “Report”), each of the undersigned hereby certifies,
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that (i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 and (ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Mednax, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Mednax, Inc. and will be retained by Mednax, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

August 6, 2021

By: /s/ Mark S. Ordan

Mark S. Ordan

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By: s/ C. Marc Richards

C. Marc Richards

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)






